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The Feilman Foundation Composer in Residence Program which is the first 
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A previously unpublished image is prepared for display at  Old Perth Boys’ School which is 
now occupied by Curtin University. G Pickering



To Hon Albert Jacob MLA  
Minister for Heritage

In accordance with Section 61 of the 
Financial Management Act 2006, the  
National Trust hereby submits for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, 
the Annual Report of The National Trust of 
Australia (WA) for the financial year ended  
30 June 2016. 

The Annual Report has been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the 
Financial Management Act 2006. 

Julian Donaldson 
Chief Executive Officer

25 August 2016
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I have always maintained that as a Trust for both 
government and the community, the National 
Trust of Australia (WA) continues to provide an 
amazing diversity of services.

It is becoming increasingly important to secure 
resources for programs across the spectrum of cultural 
heritage through key partnerships which enable the 
Trust to deliver significant and consistently high quality 
outcomes. 

This year saw the completion of works for two 
important projects undertaken in partnership with 
Curtin University. Both the Old Perth Boys’ School and 
57 Murray Street are now leased to Curtin University 
with the former now the city based Alumni Office and 
the latter now occupied by its Law School.

2016 also saw the completion of a major conservation 
and interpretation project at Gallop House in Dalkeith. 
Our deep appreciation goes to the Feilman 
Foundation which donated the funds to conserve 
Gallop House so that it could become a home to a 
national Composer in Residence program and is a fine 
example of cultural reuse of a Trust place.

The National Trust takes on the challenges of working 
with heritage places such as these because it believes 
they should be cared for on behalf of future 
generations. Without the National Trust, many of these 
places would deteriorate or be irreversibly changed. 
After all, it is important to remember these are all State 
assets which belong to the community. 

The National Trust is firmly committed to conserving 
and interpreting Aboriginal heritage. Ours was the first 
National Trust in Australia to develop a Reconciliation 
Action Plan and to commit to reconciliation, and it 
continues to lead by example and to provide 
important leadership to many others. This 
commitment is reflected through the work of its 
Foundations, the innovation generated by the National 
Trust, since 2007, in partnership with numerous 
Aboriginal groups. The Foundations allow for monies 
to be significantly invested into conserving and 
interpreting Aboriginal heritage and maintaining this 

important cultural patrimony in Western Australia.  
This has included the rescue and revival of six 
Goldfields Aboriginal languages over the past four 
years through the Ngalia Foundation. We welcomed 
the opening of the National Trust’s Goldfields 
Aboriginal Language Centre in Kalgoorlie in June and 
the many attendees at the Aboriginal Languages 
Conference held in Kalgoorlie at the same time.  
The National Trust recognises the excellent support by 
the resources sector including Fortescue Metals Group, 
Atlas Iron Ore, Roy Hill, BHP Billiton and Rio Tinto.

Thanks to the National Trust Partnership Program 
funding from the Commonwealth the continued 
development, quality and delivery of the National 
Trust’s schools and public education programs have 
been significant, as evidenced by an increasing 
number of programs and visitors to Trust places.  
The National Trust has committed to the Australian 
Curriculum for its schools programs and as the lead 
Trust, continues to provide national leadership for the 
coordination of education programs linked to National 
Trust places in Australia, as well as links to other 
heritage places and events of national heritage 
significance. 

In late June of this year the Trust presented a major 
Heritage in Education Conference in Canberra which 
was made possible by Commonwealth Government 
funding through the National Trust Partnership Program. 
This conference held at the National Museum set the 
benchmark for future such initiatives and brought 
together a diverse array of heritage professionals all 
eager to learn about and share in the progress being 
made in heritage education around the nation. 

The education programs demonstrate the National 
Trust’s commitment to both present and future 
generations. It is our belief that if there is a 
commitment to increasing knowledge, awareness and 
understanding of Western Australia’s heritage, these 
younger generations may be in a very strong position 
to commit to its conservation and interpretation for 
many years to come. 

President’s Report

I am pleased to present my report for 2015-2016 in this, my fifth year 
as President of the National Trust of Australia (WA).
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The Trust’s community engagement program has 
reached tens of thousands of Western Australians 
through Sunset Christmas Carols and Anzac Service  
at Peninsula Farm, Heritage Festival, and the  
CY O’Connor Lecture. 

It is also important to recognise the contribution made 
by the members of Council who give of their time 
voluntarily and provide a depth of knowledge and 
experience at many levels.

On behalf of the National Trust, I would like to welcome 
new Chief Executive Officer Julian Donaldson, who has 
been quick to demonstrate a passion for the Trust’s 
mission and who I am sure will provide capable 
leadership in moving the Trust forward.

I acknowledge there are many significant issues and 
challenges to be faced, including the increasing 
demands for National Trust services. We hope to see our 
members and supporters working with us to ensure this 
great work can continue efficiently and effectively. We 
need your support more than ever before to enhance 
our ability to meet the many challenges that lie ahead. 

Please remember that the National Trust works with, and 
for others, not for itself. The National Trust is working for 
the community of Western Australia. 

I commend the 2015-2016 Annual Report to you. 

Thank you 

Max Kay AM CitWA
President

President’s Report

Christmas Island sunset. G Pickering6



Executive Summary 2015-16

The mission of the National Trust of Australia (WA),  
to conserve and interpret Western Australia’s cultural  
heritage (natural, Aboriginal and historic), highlights the 
important role of the National Trust in valuing and respecting  
the diversity of Western Australia’s cultural heritage. 

Our cultural heritage encompasses not only the 
built fabric of places but also social, historic, 
scientific, aesthetic and spiritual values which 
are central to Western Australia’s identity.

Whether in the natural, Aboriginal or historic 
environment, there will always be a connection 
between these values and our community and it  
is therefore important for the National Trust to 
continue to play a pivotal role in helping to 
increase the knowledge, awareness, understanding 
and commitment to these values. The National 
Trust is committed to ensuring our present and 
future generations understand the significance of 
these values through a range of experiences and 
opportunities which showcase the richness of our 
State’s heritage. Furthermore, the National Trust 
needs to ensure that through its conservation and 
interpretation processes our cultural heritage 
significance is retained and remains at the 
forefront, in line with the Burra Charter. 

The National Trust of Australia (WA) Act (1964) 
clearly identifies the importance of its significant 
role as a public educational institution. In keeping 
with this objective, the National Trust has taken a 
leadership role nationally in the coordination of 
heritage education and in the development and 
delivery of schools programs linked to the 
Australian Curriculum through a range of 
opportunities across curriculum learning areas.  
This has also included the delivery of a national 
Heritage in Education conference held in Canberra 
in June 2016. Our work in education is further 
enhanced by the delivery of public and interactive 
online programs which cater for the diversity of 
levels, interests and age ranges.

Over the 2015-16 financial year, the National  
Trust’s projects and programs have effectively  
and efficiently delivered measurable outcomes 
reflecting the four strategic objectives of 
leadership, governance, sustainability and 
partnerships. 

The National Trust also commends and appreciates 
the high level and important commitment of its 
volunteers, including the members of Council, who 
continue to donate the most valuable asset of all, 
their time, to assist the operational and 
administrative staff in their efforts to conserve  
and interpret this State’s cultural heritage.  
The work done by the Council of the National  
Trust, associated committees and the hundreds of 
volunteers in all aspects of the National Trust’s 
work is sincerely valued.

Equally valued is the work of the National Trust 
staff who continue to give consistently and who 
demonstrate their deep and genuine commitment 
to conserving and interpreting Western Australia’s 
heritage. Their understanding of and adherence to 
the highest professional standards ensures quality 
heritage outputs and these have been significant 
in 2015-2016, as clearly outlined in this Annual 
Report. The scope of works includes commercial 
projects, grant funded projects, interpretation and 
orientation projects, prisoner training projects, 
conservation works, education and learning 
programs and public events and programs.
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Enabling Legislation

The National Trust of Australia (WA) was established 
in 1959 and in 1964 was created as a statutory 
authority under the National Trust of Australia (WA) 
Act 1964. The National Trust of Australia (WA) is a 
Trust for the Government and the community and is 
a member-focused not-for-profit organisation.

Responsible Minister

The National Trust of Australia (WA) is accountable to 
the Parliament of Western Australia through the 
Minister for Environment; Heritage the Hon. Albert 
Jacob MLA. It is through the Minister that an annual 
report is submitted and accountability is exercised for 
appropriations.

Vision

The National Trust of Australia (WA) is the pre-
eminent community based organisation promoting 
the conservation and interpretation of Western 
Australia’s unique heritage and educating the 
community about the use of cultural heritage 
(historic, natural and Aboriginal) for the long-term 
social, economic and environmental benefit of the 
community.

Mission

The National Trust of Australia (WA) conserves and 
interprets Western Australia’s heritage (natural, 
Aboriginal and historic) for present and future 
generations.

Objectives 

Leadership 
To increase the knowledge, awareness, 
understanding and commitment of decision makers 
in all aspects of heritage.

Governance  
To demonstrate best practice processes in our 
culture, systems and skills enabling more efficient 
and effective operations as a Trust for government, 
the community and stakeholders.

Sustainability 
To deliver standards, processes and products that are 
economically, socially and environmentally sustainable.

Partnerships  
To initiate and sustain the widest possible 
participation, support and engagement with 
heritage.

Key Strategic Initiatives  
To diversify income, integrate knowledge, utilise 
assets and connect with partners.

Principles 

1. The National Trust of Australia (WA) works for 
others not itself; 

2. The National Trust of Australia (WA) is primarily  
a custodian of heritage places; 

3. The National Trust of Australia (WA) is managed 
with volunteers but not by volunteers; and 

4. The National Trust of Australia (WA) is an 
educational institution and heritage places  
are one of the primary tools for education  
and learning. 

Accountability and Transparency 

The National Trust will report its outcomes in all of 
the key areas in an open and transparent manner in 
concise and clear English. 

The National Trust will develop, maintain, and 
enhance activities which match the needs and 
objectives of the Trust with the knowledge, skills, 
experience, expertise and enthusiasm of professional 
staff and volunteers. 

Services 

The National Trust of Australia (WA) is a  
statutory authority that delivers heritage services 
through whole of government appropriations.  
The organisation delivers heritage services in the 
areas of Conservation, Stewardship, Education, 
Interpretation, Planning and Management. 

Patron 

Her Excellency the Honourable Kerry Sanderson AC.

Operational Structure
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Organisational Structure 2011-15
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Volunteers and Committees 2015–16

The National Trust relies on the skills and commitment of over 370 registered volunteers to enable the  
organisation to carry out its role in conserving and  interpreting the heritage of Western Australia.

Volunteer appreciation day at Old Blythewood. S Guerrero10



Volunteers bring community spirit to their work 
with the National Trust embracing ideals of giving, 
caring and sharing for future generations. 
Volunteers contributed over 14,400 registered 
hours to the National Trust, at an estimated value 
of about $317,200.

The National Trust recruits and provides training for 
volunteers on an ongoing basis. Induction and training 
programs promote the concept of mutual obligation 
to ensure the needs and expectations of both 
volunteers and the National Trust are fulfilled.

The National Trust recognises the commitment of its 
volunteers through an annual volunteer day held 
during National Volunteers Week, invitations to events, 
awards for length of service and public 
acknowledgements.

The National Trust has 13 committees endorsed by the 
Council. Roles on these committees are filled on an 
honorary basis and provide the organisation with a 
broad and diverse base of knowledge and expertise.  
A comprehensive list of Committees and Volunteers 
can be found in Appendix 2.

It is a very important fact that all Councillors of the 
National Trust are volunteers. The expertise and 
experience of these extremely dedicated people have 
successfully guided the National Trust in Western 
Australia for over fifty years.

It is particularly fitting to acknowledge and thank 
Officers of the Council, Chairman and Deputy 
Chairman, Officers of the Trust, President, Vice 
Presidents, Treasurer and Secretary as well as members 
of the Executive and the Finance and Audit Committee 
for their commitment.

It is also important to note that thousands of hours of 
unpaid work is voluntarily given by salaried staff. This 
reflects their total commitment to the values of the 
National Trust.

The National Trust relies on the skills and commitment of over 370 registered volunteers to enable the  
organisation to carry out its role in conserving and  interpreting the heritage of Western Australia.
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Chairman’s Report

My report for the 2015-2016 
financial year has involved 
some hard decisions – so 
much has been done by the 
National Trust of Australia 

(WA), upon which I would 
wish to comment, that I am 

vexed to know where to stop.

So I will start with people. It is, after all, only through 
the people who provide their various contributions 
that the Trust does anything at all. As ever, I am 
proud of the achievements of the staff of the Trust 
who have excelled themselves this year in their 
energy and expertise. They all deserve to be 
recognised by name, but, of course, space does  
not permit it. 

In addition, the Trust is most fortunate to be able  
to call upon the assistance of volunteers in relation 
to particular places and projects. I express the hope 
that the immediate future will see the Trust able  
to offer them more back-up and support for their 
efforts, which are so greatly appreciated.

I must mention two people to whom I offer the 
Trust’s grateful thanks for their work. They are Enzo 
Sirna AM, the Deputy CEO, who carried the Trust 
forward during the difficult interregnum following 
the effective retirement of the former CEO, Tom 
Perrigo, and the appointment of the new CEO,  
Julian Donaldson, who has made a brilliant start 
upon what we hope will be a long association with 
the Trust.

Finally, I record my gratitude for the work of the 
Councillors and the various office-holders whose 
diligence has meant that the Trust has again been 
able to enjoy decision-making of the highest calibre. 
I am only able to survive in the office of Chairman 
with the support of their sound judgment.

I am grateful once again that the Trust has had the 
assistance of a fruitful relationship with the Minister 
for Heritage, the Hon Albert Jacob MLA; the 
Heritage Council, chaired in turn by Marion Fulker 
AM and Mrs Anne Arnold; and the State Heritage 
Office and its CEO, Mr Graeme Gammie. The process 
of the enactment of a new Heritage Act is well 
under way, I am told.

We have completed the process, which I  
mentioned in passing last year, of the Trust  
and the Heritage Council entering into a 
Memorandum of Understanding which commits 
both agencies to co-operative and collaborative 
work on projects, wherever possible. I am convinced 
that this will enhance the capacity of both agencies 
to achieve more by pooling resources, particularly  
of expert staff and consultants.

The Trust is fortunate to have as its patron Her 
Excellency, the Governor, the Hon Kerry Sanderson 
AC. She delivered the annual C Y O’Connor Lecture 
to a packed house this year, choosing as her theme 
the topical matter of the need for the community to 
value the contributions of our leaders and to ensure 
that the community provides its support for the 
individuals who provide that public service.

Her Excellency is leading the effort to develop the 
Commonwealth Walkways project in WA and is 
actively sponsoring a project involving cooperative 
effort by the Department of Parks and Wildlife, the 
Trust and, hopefully, private sponsors, which will be 
directed to the enhancement of the natural and 
Aboriginal heritage of our regional parks and 
reserves, particularly those closer to the 
metropolitan area.

I am keen to see the Trust improve its focus on the 
natural and Aboriginal heritage, by taking 
advantage of such an opportunity, as well as in the 
work done with various Aboriginal foundations with  
the assistance of corporate enterprises, and 
otherwise in the projects it undertakes.

But we must not let our effort slip to any degree 
in the core business of the conservation and 
interpretation of our built heritage, and this year 
there have been some remarkable examples of 
the Trust’s work in this area. In no particular 
order, I mention:

Old Perth Boys’ School
Conservation and substantial restoration to preserve 
this historic place, significant to local Aboriginal 
people as well as early colonists, and to provide a 
city conference and visitor centre for Curtin 
University.

57 Murray Street
The substantial restoration of a 1912 heritage  
listed building and its conversion to the city location 
of the Curtin University law school, combining 
preservation of a delightful structure with internal 
adaptation to provide modern, electronically 
enhanced, teaching facilities, including a moot  
court and barristers’ clinics.

Gallop House, Dalkeith
Brilliant work in the conservation and renovation of 
this house, which dates from the 1870s, supported 
by various Commonwealth government and 
non-government agencies, in particular the Feilman 
Foundation. It is to be used as a home and studio  
for a composer-in-residence. Again, the place has 
particular significance for Aboriginal people and  
the work involved an archaeological dig by students 
at the UWA, uncovering material dating from the 
original use of the place in 1831 as Dalkeith Farm.
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I will limit myself to a passing mention of the 
ongoing work on such projects as the Artillery  
Drill Hall in Fremantle, the Whitby Falls Farm  
with Murdoch University, the major project of 
conservation and adaptive reuse of Luisini  
Winery in Kingsley, adjacent to the wetlands of  
the Yellagonga Regional Park, and the important 
Christmas Island Heritage Assistance Program, to 
refer to only a few of the Trust’s current projects.

I am pleased also to be able to report that the  
Trust continues to play an important role in its 
education function, both nationally and in WA.  
We have played a leading role in curriculum 
development for the study of our heritage – natural, 
Aboriginal and built history. Enzo Sirna convened 
the recent National Education Conference upon  
the theme, ‘Valuing Heritage through Education’, 
held in Canberra. The accolades he received were 
well merited.

Finally, I must mention, with pride and astonishment 
at the achievement, the 2016 Heritage Festival, 
involving 160 separate events over the whole of the 
State during the course of a month, providing a 
reach of over 500,000 people. Apart from the many 
organisations involved in sponsorship of the 
Festival, the principal sponsor was the Australian 
Government Department of the Environment. The 
event provides yet another example of the fact that 
the Trust does its best work when it is enabled to 
apply its expertise with the support of other 
government and non-government partners. 

For me the high point of excellence in this regard 
was the musical event, ‘Sound from the Ground’, 
performed by a brilliant quartet of classical guitarists 
in St Bartholomew’s Church at the East Perth 
Cemeteries. The program featured musical 
interpretations of the stories of deceased persons 
buried there, including a remarkable piece 
composed by Duncan Gardiner. 

I am delighted to be able to report that your 
National Trust of WA is blessed by access to people 
with the talent to enable me to predict confidently 
that the work of the Trust will be performed 
exceptionally well in the years to come.

Hon Michael Murray AM QC 
Chairman

Gallop House interior. E Van Dordrecht
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Michael Murray graduated LLB at 
UWA in 1964. He was appointed as 
Crown Prosecutor for WA in 1973 
(DPP) and as WA Crown Counsel  
in 1980. He was appointed a QC  
in 1984.

In 1990 he was appointed to the 
Supreme Court of WA. He became 
the senior judge of the court and 
from time to time served as Acting 
Chief Justice and Administrator of 
the State. He retired from the bench 
when he turned 70, in 2012. 

He served on the council of the Law 
Society of WA (President in 1988) 
and on other professional 
associations. He is a life member of 
the Law Society and the WA Bar 
Association.

For 9 years he was on the Senate of 
Murdoch University, for 6 years as 
Pro-Chancellor. He now holds a 
position as an Adjunct Professor of 
Law at Murdoch and teaches 
sentencing and parole, and advocacy.

He is the Parliamentary Inspector of 
the Corruption and Crime 
Commission and Chairman of the 
Supervised Release Review Board 
(juvenile parole). He was awarded 
an AM for service to the law, 
education and the community.

He is grateful in retirement from the 
bench to have the opportunity to 
pursue his interest in historical and 
environmental preservation as 
Chairman of the Council and 
Executive of the National Trust of 
Australia (WA).

National Trust Member since 1997. 

Hon Michael Murray AM QC  
Chairman 
Term expires: 2016 

Dr Ken Michael AC was installed as 
the thirtieth Governor of Western 
Australia on 18 January 2006, retiring 
from this position in May 2011. 

He was educated at Highgate 
Primary School, Perth Boys’ School 
and Perth Modern School. He 
graduated in civil engineering from 
The University of Western Australia 
and completed his PhD degree at 
Imperial College of Science and 
Technology in London.

He served as Commissioner of Main 
Roads and Public Service 
Commissioner. He was Chancellor of 
The University of Western Australia, 
Chairman of the East Perth 
Redevelopment Authority, 
Chairman of the Western Australian 
Museum and a member of the 
Economic Regulation Authority.

Dr Michael has made a significant 
contribution in many areas, 
including public service, 
engineering, academia and, in 
general, to the Western Australian 
community. He continues his 
support of the community in his 
retired capacity.  He is currently 
Chairman of Broome Future, as well 
as being involved in a number of 
other community based activities. 

He has received a number of awards 
in recognition of his contribution to 
his profession and the community. 
He was made a Member of the Order 
of Australia in 1996 and Companion 
of the Order of Australia in the 2006 
Australia Day Honours.

National Trust Member since 2015. 

Hon Dr Ken Michael AC 
Deputy Chair (2016)  
Term expires: 2017

After a working career of 40 years as 
a partner with lawyers Jackson 
McDonald, Gregory retired from the 
firm at the end of 2013. He practised 
in property, securities and corporate 
areas of the law.

Gregory has served on various 
university law advisory boards and 
lectured at UWA for more than 20 
years. A past president of the Law 
Society of Western Australia and life 
member of that organisation he 
continues his involvement in several 
of the Society’s committees.

He is a past board member of the 
West Australian Opera Company of 
which he served as acting Chair. 

Gregory joined the National Trust 
Council in 2005 and was elected  
to the position of Deputy Chair in 
2007. Due to personal commitments, 
Gregory elected not to renominate 
for Council and the significance of 
his contribution has been duly 
recognised by Council.

National Trust Member since 2005.

Mr Gregory Boyle  
LLB  
Deputy Chair  
(Retired 2015) 

The Council
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Mr Max Kay AM CitWA  
President  
Term expires: 2016

Hon John Cowdell AM  
JP BA (Hons) Dip Ed Hon D Litt 
Vice President 
Term expires: 2018

Ms Christine Lewis  
B Ed in Art (UNSW) M Ed Mngmnt (UWA) 
Vice President  
Term expires: 2017 

Mr Max Kay arrived in Perth from 
Scotland in 1967 and soon became 
one of Western Australia’s most 
sought after performers. In January 
2001 Max closed the Civic Theatre to 
pursue other goals, of a community 
nature, by concentrating on various 
charitable causes that he had helped 
throughout his business career and 
running for the City of Perth Council 
to which he was elected. 

In June 2001 Max’s contribution to 
the entertainment and hospitality 
industry was recognized when he 
was awarded the Citizen of the Year 
for the Arts, Culture and Entertainment 
category. In the same year, he was 
thrilled to receive the Premier’s award 
for “Legend of the Hospitality Industry”. 

He earned his highest accolade in 
January 2003 when he was appointed 
a Member of the Order of Australia for 
services to the entertainment industry 
and for charitable works. That same 
year he was proud to be one of 1300 
Australians to receive the Prime 
Minister’s Centennial Medal. 

Max was always extremely grateful to 
have been awarded The Vietnam 
Logistic Support Medal and a special 
Citation from the Commander of the 
American Defence Force, General 
Abrahams, for his services in 
entertaining troops from both 
countries as an initiative of the 
Australian Government.

Max has been a tireless worker for the 
community, sitting on many boards 
and committees and devoting time 
to his favourite charities. 

National Trust Member since 2009. 

John Cowdell has been a member 
of the Trust for 24 years, having 
served as Chairman, Vice President 
and President.

John is a previous President of the 
Legislative Council, Chairman of the 
Regional Development Council of 
WA, Chairman of the Peel 
Development Commission, 
Chairman of the State’s 175th 
Anniversary Committee and a 
Councillor of Curtin University.

John Cowdell is a Patron of the Art 
Deco Society of Western Australia. 
He chaired the National Trust’s 
Kalgoorlie Trades Hall, Lawson 
Apartments and Parliament House 
Appeals and has been closely 
involved with the establishment of 
the John Curtin Prime Ministerial 
Library and the conservation of the 
Curtin Family Home.

National Trust Member since 1992. 

Christine has been involved with the 
National Trust movement since the 
early 1980s when she first joined in 
New South Wales. She was also a 
Trust member in the ACT where she 
served on the Education and 
Culture Committee from 1987 to 
1990, and worked as a Trust 
volunteer organising Heritage Week 
activities, seminars and conferences.

Christine is a Trust member in 
Western Australia and was 
appointed to the Council in  
May 2012. Christine holds the 
degrees of Bachelor of Education  
in Art (UNSW) and Master of 
Education Management (UWA). 

She is an experienced museum  
and heritage professional based in 
Perth, having previously worked  
for the ACT Heritage Committee  
in Canberra (1987–90), and at the 
Powerhouse Museum in Sydney 
(1990–95).

She has been employed in a 
curatorial role at the Lawrence 
Wilson Art Gallery (UWA) 1997–8 
and then for ten years as Registrar 
and Manager Assessment and 
Registration at the WA State Office 
of Heritage. 

From 2007 to 2014 she worked in 
the area of Aboriginal heritage at 
the Department of Aboriginal 
Affairs.

National Trust Member since 1981. 
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Mr Palermo is a Partner with 
Palermo Chartered Accountants  
and national Board member of 
Chartered Accountants Australia 
and New Zealand.

Mr Palermo was also previously 
Chairman of the WA Regional 
Council and National Public Practice 
Advisory Committee of the Institute 
of Chartered Accountants and a 
member of the Council Working 
Group towards the successful 
merger of the New Zealand and 
Australian Institute of Chartered 
Accountants with a combined 
membership of approximately 
130,000 members.

Mr Palermo’s areas of expertise are 
in financial and corporate 
accounting and strategic business 
management. He also holds 
positions on a number of not-for-
profit boards.

National Trust Member since 2005. 

Mr John Palermo  
Treasurer 2015  
Term expires: 2018 

Ms Cogan has worked as a solicitor 
for both government and private 
firms around the world (including 
the legal department of The 
National Trust in the United 
Kingdom).

In 2005, Ms Cogan retired from the 
State Solicitor’s Office. Ms Cogan has 
served as the Secretary on the 
National Trust Council since 2006 
and is a member of the Executive 
Committee. 

National Trust Member since 2005. 

Ms Helen Cogan  
LLB (UWA) LLB (Wits)  
Secretary  
Term expires: 2017 

A retired General Medical 
Practitioner, Dr Collins has a 49 year 
history of service through Rotary 
International having served as a 
Director of the International Board 
and a Trustee of the Rotary 
Foundation. He has also served  
as Chairman of the Medic Alert 
Council of WA, Chairman of the 
Australian Rotary Foundation  
Trust, Commissioner of St John 
Ambulance Volunteer First Aid 
Service, Director of Interplast 
Australia, Director of Australian 
Rotary Health Research Fund and 
Chairman of the Ethics Committee 
of Lighthouse Laboratories. 

In 1991 he was named the WA 
Citizen of the Year for Community 
Service, in 1994 he was made a 
member of the Order of Australia 
and awarded the Australian Medical 
Association Award for Outstanding 
Service to Medicine, in 2001 he  
was awarded the Centenary of 
Federation Medal and in 2007  
was the Western Australian Senior 
Australian of the Year. 

National Trust Member since 2008. 

Dr Ken Collins AM CStJ CitWA  
MB BS  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2017 

The Council
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Mr Roger Jennings  
MA (Cantab) EurChem CChem FRSC  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2017 

A retired British Civil Servant  
and Diplomat who worked in the 
government healthcare field with a 
background in quality management 
and science policy, Mr Jennings has 
had a keen interest in architecture, 
design and heritage preservation  
for over forty years and has been  
a member of National Trust 
organisations in the UK, USA,  
Malta and Australia. 

Mr Jennings has been actively 
involved in volunteering with 
several charitable organisations  
for the past twenty years and has 
worked as a volunteer administrator 
with the National Trust of Australia 
(WA) for eleven years, and has been 
a member of Council since 2008. 

Over the past six years he has been 
developing and maintaining nearly 
twenty websites for the Trust’s 
Australian Schools National 
Curriculum Programs.

National Trust Member since 2005. 

Mr Grant Godfrey  
BEc (Hons) MBA AGIA  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2016 

Mr Godfrey is a business finance  
and strategic planning specialist 
with experience across several 
industry sectors. He has worked at 
senior levels in major corporations 
in the finance industry. 

Mr Godfrey is currently working  
with the University of Western 
Australia in a senior project role.

He is a past Vice President and 
Treasurer of the National Trust 
Council and is currently a member 
of the Trust’s Executive Committee 
and is the Chair of Trust’s Finance 
and Audit Committee.

National Trust Member since 2007. 

Graham Goerke 
B.JURIS, LLB, GAICD 
Councillor 
Term expires: 2017

Graham practised as a property 
lawyer at Jackson McDonald for over 
30 years until the end of 2015. He was 
chair of the partnership board for 10 
years from 2001 and head of the 
commercial/property practice team 
from 1995.

Graham was a member of the 
Division Council of the Property 
Council in WA for over 12 years; an 
adjunct professor for 6 years with the 
law school of Murdoch University; 
and has been a member of the 
Australian Institute of Company 
Directors since 1991. 

Graham has been a Council and 
Board member of Edmund Rice 
Education Australia (EREA) since 2006 
and Board Chair since 2013.  EREA 
currently governs over 50 Catholic 
schools and flexible learning centres 
around Australia.  Graham has also 
been a member of the Board of the 
WA Sports Centre Trust (VenuesWest) 
since 2007.  Under its governing 
legislation, VenuesWest is currently 
responsible for 13 sports and 
entertainment venues on behalf  
of the State.

National Trust Member since 2015.

The Council
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Professor Gregory teaches and 
researches in the fields of heritage 
and history at The University of 
Western Australia. 

She is Director of the Centre for WA 
History and has served as Head of 
the School of Humanities (2009-15) 
and Chair of History (2007-08). Her 
contribution to heritage and history 
was recognised when she was 
made a member of the Order of 
Australia (2010), a Champion of the 
Built Environment (2004) by the 
award of a Centenary of Federation 
Medal (2001), and the National 
Trust’s Stirling Award (2011).

Former Chair of the National Trust  
of Australia (WA) (2007–10) and past 
President (1998–2007), she is also 
past President of the History Council 
of WA (2003–07) and a former 
Director of UWA Press.

She was Deputy Chair of the 
Australian Council of National Trusts 
(2008–10), and was also a former 
Councillor of the Heritage Council  
of WA. She is presently a member of 
the Australia Day Council (WA) and 
has recently taken on the role of 
President of the History Council of 
WA once more.

National Trust Member since 1989. 

Prof. Jenny Gregory AM  
FRHS MPHA MICOMOS BA (Hons) PhD  
Councillor 
Term expires: 2016 

After serving in the Canadian  
Forces on NATO, peacekeeping  
and program management duties, 
Mr Mitchell was employed in the 
health promotion and aged care 
sector in Western Australia.

He has been actively involved  
with National Trust governance, 
properties, programs and people  
for over 25 years. In 2012 he was 
awarded the Heritage Council 
award for outstanding commitment 
to heritage, particularly to fostering 
the growth and sustainability  
of a wide range of heritage 
organisations, and the  
development and promotion of 
innovative projects and practices. 

He is currently the Executive Officer 
of Museums Australia WA and 
Curator of the Army Museum of WA.

National Trust Member since 1990. 

Colonel (Ret’d) Robert Mitchell  
CFD UE MA GAICD  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2018

Geoff has been a member of the 
Trust since 2001 and was previously 
a Council member 2002-2005 and is 
a member of the Classifications 
Committee.

In everyday life he is employed in 
local government and oversees 
planning, development and 
operation of heritage facilities and 
programs. Other interests include 
the Canning Agricultural Society; 
Coastal Group of agricultural 
societies; Veteran Car Club of WA; 
Council of Motoring Clubs of WA 
and holds positions with these.

Memberships include History 
Council of WA, RWAHS, British 
Printing Society; and various 
collectors clubs and community 
groups. He is a life member of a 
several community organisations 
and has been made a Paul Harris 
Fellow by two Rotary Clubs.

National Trust Member since 2001. 

Mr Geoff Moor  
B.AppSc FPLA  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2016 

The Council
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Ms Irene Stainton  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2018 

Irene Stainton has over 30 years’ experience 
as a State Public Servant, where much of that 
time was spent in Executive and Senior 
Management positions. 

She has an extensive background in public 
housing, welfare services and has long been 
an advocate for Aboriginal cultural heritage, 
holding a series of advisory positions at State 
and national levels. Irene was the first 
Director of Yorganop Aboriginal Child Care in 
Perth, becoming secretary of the Secretariat 
of National Aboriginal and Islander Child 
Care, where as an Australian delegate she 
presented discussions papers to the United 
Nations and was a Council member of the 
National Inquiry into the Removal of 
Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander children 
from their families.

After leaving the public service, she was 
employed as the General Manager of one  
of the largest WA based Heritage Consulting 
Companies and is now employed as the 
Senior Aboriginal Affairs Advisor at INPEX. 
She has extensive knowledge in heritage 
and culture and was the first Aboriginal 
person to become Registrar of Aboriginal 
Sites in Western Australia, prior to being 
appointed Chairperson of the Aboriginal 
Cultural Material Committee in the 
Aboriginal Affairs Department. 

Irene serves as a Trustee of the Western 
Australian Museum and is the Chairperson  
of its Aboriginal Cultural Heritage Advisory 
Committee, is a member of the Indigenous 
Advisory Committee of the National 
Museum of Australia, and the Chairperson  
of the National Trust of Australia (WA) 
Aboriginal Advisory Committee. Irene is a 
past member of the Commonwealth 
Government’s Advisory Committee 
responsible for the repatriation of Indigenous 
Cultural Material, was until recently, the 
Deputy Chairperson of the Aboriginal Lands 
Trust and is a past finalist in the Telstra 
Business Woman of the Year Awards. 

National Trust Member since 2001. 

Dr Robyn Taylor  
MPHA  
Councillor  
Term expires: 2015 

Dr Taylor works as a historian, art 
curator and heritage consultant.  
Her areas of interest include Western 
Australian history, art, architecture 
and cultural heritage. 

Dr Taylor has served on the  
Trust Council since 1993, and the 
Classification Standing Committee 
since its formation in 1994. 

She was a councillor on the 
inaugural Heritage Council of 
Western Australia from 1991  
to 1993. 

In 2004 she received a  
Champion Award for the Year of 
Built Environment and, in 2005, the 
National Trust’s Stirling Award for 
over 15 years voluntary service.

In April 2012 she received a ‘High 
Commendation for Outstanding 
Contribution to Heritage by a 
Professional in the Heritage Industry’ 
in the Western Australian Heritage 
Awards.

National Trust Member since 1982.

Hon Cheryl Edwardes  
GAICD LLM, BA, LLB,  
Bachelor of Jurisprudence  
Appointed Councillor – The Premier’s Representative  
Term expires: 2017 

Cheryl Edwardes provides strategic 
advice to Atlas Iron Ore and clients 
of FTI consulting.

She has a long and distinguished 
career in Western Australian politics, 
serving as the State’s Minister for  
the Environment from 1997 to 2001 
and was also Western Australia’s first 
female Attorney General (1993) and 
the first female solicitor appointed 
to the Western Australian Parliament 
(1989). She was admitted to the 
Supreme Court of Western Australia 
in 1984 and the High Court of 
Australia in 1986 and has tutored in 
Criminal Law at the University of 
Western Australia and in Business 
Law at the University of London.

Ms Edwardes' principal areas of 
expertise include State Agreements, 
Native Title and Heritage, Land 
Access, Environmental Regulation 
and Environmental Compliance and 
Government Relations.

National Trust Member since 2015. 

The Council
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Dr Errington is an Adjunct  
Associate Professor, previously  
Head, of the Department of 
Chemistry at Curtin University. 

He has been a member of the  
Royal WA Historical Society since 
1963 and is currently Vice President.

He has research interests in various 
aspects of WA history – chemistry, 
early colonial and sport.

Dr Errington is also a voluntary 
guide at the Round House 
Fremantle, the Old Mill South  
Perth and on Rottnest Island.

National Trust Member since 2008. 

Dr Steve Errington  
JP BSc (Hons) PhD FRACI MRSC  
Appointed Councillor – The Royal Western 
Australian Historical Society  
 

Mr Hipkins is a planner, architect 
and engineer. With a career as a 
consultant and local government 
director, he has experience in 
heritage assessment, conservation 
plan preparation and compilation  
of municipal inventories.

Mr Hipkins was a foundation 
member of the Swan River Trust,  
is a past National Chairman of the 
Australian Institute of Urban Studies 
and has held the position of Director 
of Planning at the City of Perth. 

He is currently a member of 
CityVision and is the Mayor at  
the City of Nedlands.

National Trust Member since 1994. 

Mr Max Hipkins  
MSc BTRP BArch DipAdmin  
Appointed Councillor – Western Australian 
Local Government Association  

Jocelyn Mitchell is a native of  
Mt Barker and was educated at  
St Mary’s Church of England School 
in West Perth. She completed the 
Museum Studies Certificate Course 
at Edith Cowan University in 2009. 
Jocelyn has extensive family 
linkages across rural Western 
Australia and is a member of the 
Swan River Pioneers. In her 
professional life, Jocelyn has been 
the PA to senior executives in the 
fields of tertiary education, 
petroleum resources and 
management associations. 

Overseas she has served as an 
elected official on school boards,  
as an administrative officer in  
the Refugee Review Board and 
coordinated women’s resource  
and support centres for military 
dependents. Before her retirement 
in 2013, Jocelyn was the Minutes 
Secretary and was actively involved 
in the programs and advocacy 
issues of CWA for 23 years.  
She has been volunteering for  
the National Trust since 1990.

National Trust member since 1990. 

Mrs Jocelyn Mitchell  
Appointed Councillor – The Country 
Women’s Association of WA 

The Council
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Prof. John Stephens  
BArch (Hons1) PhD  
Appointed Councillor – Australian 
Institute of Architects (WA Chapter) 

An academic in the Department  
of Architecture and Interior 
Architecture at Curtin University, 
John Stephens has taught in 
architectural history, heritage  
and conservation. 

He has a strong background  
in conservation plans, heritage 
reports and research into 
architecture, landscape and culture. 

Currently he writes on  
war memorials and war 
commemoration and on heritage 
and community. He is a member  
of the Australia Asia Pacific Institute 
(AAPI) and also sits on several 
National Trust committees.

He is appointed to the Heritage 
Council of Western Australia as  
the National Trust nominee.

National Trust Member since 1990. 

Dr Michael Wheatley  
BSc MSc PhD  
Appointed Councillor –  
The University of Western Australia  
(Retired 2016)

Dr Wheatley was the Director of the 
SPICE project and Director of the 
Centre for Learning Technology at 
The University of Western Australia.

Michael has extensive experience in 
the development of educational 
multimedia for secondary schools. 
Whilst this is predominantly for 
science disciplines (physics, 
chemistry and biology), it has  
also included heritage, natural 
environment, and Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander art and culture.

Due to other commitments,  
Dr Wheatley stepped down from 
the National Trust Council in June 
2016 and his contribution has been 
duly recognised by the Council of 
the National Trust.

National Trust Member since 2011.

The Council
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Julian Donaldson joined 
the Trust in January 2016. 
Mr Donaldson was 
previously General 
Manager of the Perth 
International Arts Festival. 
Under his leadership PIAF 
made substantial gains in 
audience numbers, box 
office and sponsor income 
while at the same time 
growing its international 
reputation as one of the 
world’s leading festivals. 
Julian brings broad 
experience in governance 
and management in both 
the cultural and 
commercial sectors. 

Enzo Sirna joined the Trust 
in 2001 with over 30 years’ 
experience in education 
and in governing 
community and not-for-
profit organisations.

Mr Sirna was previously a 
Senior Policy Advisor for 
the Minister for Citizenship 
and Multicultural interests 
and a former Head of 
Languages and Director  
of Studies at Penrhos 
College. 

He was awarded a 
Member of the Order  
of Australia in 2004 for 
service to the community 
through education, 
multicultural affairs, 
welfare and the arts.

Mr Sirna is also  
Chairman of the  
McCusker Alzheimer’s 
Research Foundation.

Pasquo Cirillo has been 
with the Trust since 2004.

Mr Cirillo has over 40 
years’ experience in  
public sector finance  
and accounting and is  
a Fellow of the Institute  
of Public Accountants.

His experience  
includes financial and 
management accounting, 
cash flow management, 
financial analysis, financial 
management systems, 
budgeting, forecasting 
and reporting. He also has 
experience in property 
lease management and is 
responsible for lease 
management of the 
Trust’s property portfolio.

Sarah Murphy joined the 
National Trust in 1999 
having previously held 
training and advisory roles 
with Museums Association 
of Australia and the 
Western Australian 
Museum in addition to 
curatorial positions in a 
diverse range of 
museums. 

With 30 years’ experience 
in cultural heritage she 
works in areas across  
the Trust’s heritage 
property portfolio and  
the extensive collections 
of moveable cultural 
heritage. 

In 2014 she was the first in 
the State to be awarded a 
scholarship to attend the 
prestigious Attingham 
Summer School for the 
Study of the English 
Country House. 

 

Mr Julian Donaldson 
BA DipEd MAICD

Mr Enzo Sirna AM 
BA DipEd MACE 

Mr Pasquo Cirillo  
BBus FIPA DipAcc 

Ms Sarah Murphy  
BA, Grad Dip Mus Stud, MLitt 

Chief Executive 
Officer

Deputy Chief  
Executive Officer

Director,  
Finance and Audit

Director, Conservation 
and Stewardship

Senior Officers
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A Legacy of Community Benefit

Acknowledging outstanding commitment
The National Trust acknowledges the outstanding 
commitment of each Executive and Council member who 
generously volunteers time and expertise to benefit the 
Trust. In 2016 the Trust says a special thank you to 
Gregory Boyle who has served on the council since 2005 
and as Deputy Chair between 2007- 2015 and Dr Michael 
Wheatley who was appointed Councillor representing 
The University of Western Australia (UWA) in 2009 and 
whose term expired in 2016.

Gregory Boyle’s forty year career in law and position as 
partner with lawyers Jackson, McDonald have brought 
strengths to the National Trust  in property, securities and 
corporate areas of law.

Highlights for Gregory during his association with the 
National Trust include the conservation and interpretation 
outcomes at Wanslea and 57 Murray Street. “These projects 
demonstrate how the effort to save the buildings delivers a 
substantial social outcome.”

Michael Wheatley’s role as Director of the SPICE project and 
Director of the Centre for Learning Technology at UWA has 
brought educational benefits to the National Trust.

Michael’s  first involvement with the National Trust was as 
analyst-programmer for an multimedia CD-ROM, Traces of 
the Past, produced by the Centre for Western Australian 
History and DUIT Multimedia at UWA in 1997. In 2003 he 
helped develop the Golden Pipeline website that 
showcased the history, recreational trails, exhibitions and 
information to help residents and visitors to Western 
Australia discover more about the incredible Goldfields 
water supply pipeline.  The National Trust expresses its deep 
gratitude to both Gregory Boyle and Michael Wheatley.

Learning about the delicious grapes at the Gallop House Open Day. M Poon

Gregory Boyle 
Council since 2005 
Deputy Chair 2007-2015

Michael Wheatley 
Council since 2009  
Representative for Senate  
of UWA 2009-2016
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Key Legislation

Administered Legislation

National Trust of Australia (WA) Act 1964

National Trust of Australia (WA) By-Laws. 
14 September, 1972

National Trust of Australia (WA) Rules. Amendment 
No 8. 7 November 2012

Other Key Legislation Impacting on  
the National Trust

Anti-Corruption Act 1988

Auditor General Act 2006

Copyright Act 1968

Disability Services Act 1993

Electoral Act 1907

Equal Opportunity Act 1984

Financial Management Act 2006 

Freedom of Information Act 1992

Government Employees Superannuation Act 1987

Health Act 1911

Heritage of Western Australia Act 1990

Industrial Relations Act 1979

Interpretation Act 1984

Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951

Minimum Conditions of Employment Act 1993

Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984

Public Interest Disclosures Act 2003

Public Sector Management Act 1994

Salaries and Allowances Act 1975

State Records Act 2000

State Superannuation Act 2000

State Supply Commission Act 1991

Trade Practices Act 1974

Volunteer and Food and other Donors  
(Protection from Liability) Act 2002

Workers Compensation Injury Management Act 1981

Working with Children (Criminal Record Checking) 
Act 2004

Subsidiaries

The National Trust has no subsidiaries
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Significant Issues  
Impacting the Agency

03

National Trust graduate architects Joshua Casey and Kyra Lomas taking measurements at one of Christmas Island’s many temples. G Pickering

While there have been a number of significant 
issues that impacted on the National Trust in 
2015-2016 the three key issues which continue 
to have an impact on the National Trust are:

• The need to increase the commitment of stakeholders for 
heritage projects and programs;

• The increasing requirement for both capital and recurrent 
investment of resources for heritage projects, programs and 
maintenance of places; and

• The signing of an MOU between the Heritage Council and the 
National Trust of Australia (WA) to further strengthen the 
commitment to the State’s heritage.
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Performance  
Management Framework
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Introduction

Leadership

Governance

Sustainability

Partnerships

Louise McKay, Associate Principal Cello, WASO at the launch of the Feilman Foundation Composer 
in Residence at Gallop House. M Poon



Introduction
In line with the National Trust’s Strategic Plan 2011 
-2016, the four key strategic objectives are leadership, 
governance, sustainability and partnerships. 

The National Trust’s commitment to excellence is 
focussed on how it can increase both effectiveness 
and efficiency through the delivery of programs, 
projects and services based on these objectives.

Leadership
•  The National Trust has played a significant role,  

at a State and national level, in the development 
and delivery of schools education programs 
linked to the Australian Curriculum which 
emphasises the valuing of heritage; 

•  The National Trust has been a leader in the 
promotion, development and delivery of 
programs and projects which highlight the 
significance and importance of Aboriginal 
heritage; 

•  The National Trust has been a leader in the 
development of national website and 
communications policies for National Trusts  
in Australia; 

•  The National Trust is committed to ongoing 
research and evaluation into the identification 
and measurement of the social, environmental 
and economic outcomes of its key programs and 
projects; and 

•  The National Trust has been a leader in the 
conservation and interpretation of Western 
Australia’s heritage. This is reflected in the quality 
of its service delivery and the quality outcomes  
of its major projects. 

Governance
•  As a “Trust” for both the Government and the 

community, the National Trust is recognised for its 
strong commitment to good governance and its 
sound financial management; 

•  The National Trust is able to provide major 
benefits to government and to the community 
through the effective and efficient delivery of its 
strategic plan; 

•  The National Trust adheres to strict financial and 
audit requirements (including independent 
internal and external audits); 

•  The National Trust adheres strictly to Public Sector 
requirements; and 

•  The National Trust is accountable for all its 
services. 

Sustainability
• The National Trust is focussed on obtaining 

sustainable outcomes for all its major projects. 
These include: 

•  Gallop House, now a Composer in Residence 
house as part of the national Prelude Program 
following substantial conservation and 
interpretation works; and

•  The opening of the National Trust’s Goldfields 
Aboriginal Language Centre to preserve and 
promote the regular use of traditional 
indigenous languages.

Partnerships
The National Trust values the significance of its  
many partnerships which allow it to commit  
to projects and programs which enrich the  
State’s cultural heritage.

These partnerships allow for government, local 
government, private, corporate and community 
engagement which enhances the significant  
values and benefits of Western Australia’s heritage.
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Gallop House landscape. E Van Dordrecht



Local and international 
composers will call  
Gallop House home  
during residencies of 
between six and twelve 
months duration.

Major Projects

The Feilman Foundation Composer in 
Residence at Gallop House

The successful adaptive reuse of Gallop House in 
Dalkeith culminated in the arrival of inaugural 
Feilman Foundation Composer in Residence, Andrew 
Batt-Rawden in May 2016.  

The two storey 1870s house has been substantially 
conserved and the grounds extensively landscaped 
creating a unique creative haven with inspirational 
views across the Swan River thanks to the vision and 
generosity of the Feilman Foundation.

The residency is the first of its kind in Western Australia 
and is supported by the Peggy Glanville Hicks Trust in 
a valued partnership with the National Trust.

Local and international composers will call Gallop 
House home during residencies of between six and 
twelve months duration.

Andrew Batt-Rawden, inaugural Feilman Foundation Composer in Residence at Gallop House. G Pickering

29



The fitout undertaken by the National Trust 
conservation and interpretation team includes a 
recital room, a studio as well as refurbished domestic 
spaces. John and Sarah Palermo have generously 
loaned a Feurich baby grand piano for use by the 
composers.

The new use embraces the significant heritage values 
associated with the place including references to 
expansive vineyards and market gardens, Noongar/
settler relations and musical connections.

Finishes and interpretive elements reflect the lives of 
the Gallop family, land use and occupation of the 
landscape.

Outside landscape design features bush tucker 
varieties and contemporary plantings that 
complement remnant pomegranate, fig, almond and 
mulberry trees as well as an early grape vine that 
produced tonnes of fruit during the Gallop era.

The recent works have addressed 
the structural integrity of the house 
and will bring a range of community 
benefits.

Major Projects

Entry to main bedroom, Gallop House. E Van Dordrecht

Recital room Gallop House. E Van Dordrecht 

Upstairs hallway, Gallop House. E Van Dordrecht
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Major Projects

Gallop House exterior. E Van Dordrecht 31



Compatible reuse and best 
conservation practice are 
at the heart of the National 
Trust’s $2.3 million 
refurbishment of the former 
school which was built in 
1854.

Old Perth Boys’ School

A successful partnership between the National Trust 
of Australia (WA) and Curtin University has enabled 
the transformation of Old Perth Boys’ School at 139  
St Georges Terrace, Perth into a vibrant new 
education landmark.

Compatible reuse and best conservation practice  
are at the heart of the National Trust’s $2.3 million 
refurbishment of the former school which was built 
in 1854 and is the earliest purpose built Government 
school in Perth.

Major Projects

New city frontage for Curtin University on St Georges Terrace. G Pickering
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Contemporary products and practices have 
contributed to the sustainability of the place which is 
aiming for a 6 star Green rating under the Interiors 
rating tool from the Green Building Council of Australia.

Integrated within the fitout are a number of 
interpretive elements that put the spotlight on the 
role of Old Perth Boys’ School as a centre for ideas, 
innovation and lifelong learning. It has long been 
associated with art, architecture, politics and 
education. A display of archaeological artefacts 
recovered from under the floors reflects the everyday 
activities of schoolboys and is a feature of the place 
which served as the National Trust headquarters 
between 1977 and 1986.

Old Perth Boys’ School is situated upon land known 
by the Noongar people as Byerbrup which refers to 
the ridge stretching from Kings Park to Heirisson 
Island. Now, under a lease with Curtin University the 
space will be used for events and exhibitions as well 
as meetings with industry, alumni and potential 
students.

Major Projects

Artefacts from Old Perth Boys' School's early days. G Pickering
Interpretive display highlights designers, teachers and students 
who spent time at Old Perth Boys' School. G Pickering

Buttons and beads fell between the cracks and emerged during 
underfloor archaeology. G Pickering

Effective compatible reuse and partnership between the National 
Trust and Curtin University has delivered a long term sustainable 
outcome for one of Perth's heritage gems. G Pickering
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Major Projects

Sound from the Ground artists in residence – (L-R) Duncan Gardiner, Dr Jonathan Fitzgerald, Jameson Feakes and Melissa Fitzgerald. E Fernandez

On 29th and 30th  
April Sound from the 
Ground was performed  
in the intimacy of  
St Bartholomew’s Church 
in two sold out shows. 

Sound from the Ground

The collection of graves in East Perth Cemeteries 
stands as testimony to the lives of over 10,000 people 
who died in Perth in the nineteenth century. They 
were also the inspiration for Sound from the Ground, a 
unique project that was the highlight of the National 
Trust 2016 Heritage Festival.

The Artist in Residence project was generously 
supported by the Department of Culture and the 
Arts and enabled four early career classical guitarists 
(Dr Jonathan Fitzgerald, Duncan Gardiner, Melissa 
Fitzgerald and Jameson Feakes) to respond to 
themes that arose from their consideration of stories 
represented by the graves at the Cemeteries. 
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The repertoire that grew out of the residency was 
performed by them on site and gave captivated 
audiences a unique interpretive and experiential 
evening. 

Over a period of months, Dr Jonathan Fitzgerald and 
Duncan Gardiner made numerous visits to the 
Cemeteries, were provided with research support by 
National Trust staff and formed their thoughts as to 
what for them were the key themes and stories the 
graves represented. 

For Dr Fitzgerald the graves were not only reminders 
of our own impermanence and mortality but also 
prompts for memory and contemplation. The stone, 
slate and marble can speak of many things - loss, 
love, faith, adventure, tragedy, remembrance, even 
flirtatious pursuit and courtship. Even more may be 
said of the absence of grave markers. Some have not 
survived the elements and others never existed as 
they simply could not be afforded. Then there are the 
‘empty’ spaces where no grave markers exist and 
their absence tells of those who died but were never 
spoken of such as illegitimate children or suicides.

Perth composer Duncan Gardiner responded to the 
collection of graves through an original composition. 
Stone, Shell, Bone & Feather is an eight movement 
piece that draws on historic funeral music aligned 
with the seven faith traditions of the seven 
cemeteries that comprise the East Perth Cemeteries. 
The final movement is an offering to the traditional 
owners of the land. It is emotional and highly 
evocative work.

On 29th and 30th April Sound from the Ground was 
performed in the intimacy of St Bartholomew’s 
Church in two sold-out shows. The final works 
comprised pieces by Handel and Purcell through to 
contemporary works by guitarist composers Richard 
Charlton and Perth born Nigel Westlake, each piece 
selected and arranged to give new and unexpected 
insights into how the graves may be understood and 
made relevant to us in the present.

The first night performance of Sound from the Ground 
is available on the Trust’s website and YouTube 
channel. It opens with a unique view of the 
Cemeteries captured by a drone – doubtless the first 
time the graves have been seen in this way. The 
performance itself begins with a powerful Welcome 
to Country by Olman Walley before moving into the 
intriguing music repertoire that emerged during the 
residency. Also included is an excerpt from Duncan 
Gardiner’s composition, a range of artist vlogs, short 
clips of the guitarists in rehearsal and links to 
television and radio interviews about the project.

One of the aims of Sound from the Ground was to 
attract new audiences to the East Perth Cemeteries. 
Audience evaluation revealed that 73% had not been 
to the property previously and 74% intend to visit 
again. Given the diversity of the National Trust’s 
collections and properties it is anticipated that this 
unique residency will not be the last. There are 
incalculable numbers of stories to be told and 
interpreted in myriad ways. 

Major Projects

East Perth Cemeteries and St Bartholomew’s Church provide a 
unique performance space. E Fernandez

L-R Duncan Gardiner and  Dr Jonathan Fitzgerald rehearsed Sound 
from the Ground at St Bartholomew's Church. G Pickering

35



Artillery Drill Hall

Development Approval has been granted for the 
proposed adaptive re-use of the Drill Hall by tenant 
Sunset Events, and a new liquor licence conditionally 
approved. Western Projects has been selected as the 
project builder however works have been put on 
hold pending discussion with the new owner of the 
adjacent former Fremantle Police Complex. It is 
anticipated works combining conservation and 
interpretation works will commence later in 2016.

Avondale

Following completion of works to the picnic area, 
laboratory building and stables in 2015, focus in 2016 
has been on rehabilitation of the 54 hectare bush 
reserve. Funded by a State NRM grant, the reserve 
works include fencing, fire management, feral animal 
control and revegetation.

Conservation and Interpretation

New nesting boxes ready for installation at Avondale. K Rippingale
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Bill Sewell Complex

Documentation of electrical upgrades to the Bill 
Sewell Complex are nearly complete and the 
electrical work is progressing.

Central Greenough

A stone conservation training project was completed 
at the Police Station and Lock-up in conjunction with 
the Department of Corrective Services and 
Greenough Regional Prison. Over five days, 
participants removed inappropriate cement and 
palling mortars, inserted structural reinforcing to 
large cracks in walls, repointed joints with lime based 
mortar and lime washed walls. The team was also 
able to oil the timber verandah floors after an 
efficient program under the supervision of Applied 
Building Conservation Training and the National Trust. 

Old Geraldton Gaol Craft Centre group (L-R) Diane Evans and Marg Croft at Old Geraldton Gaol. S Murphy

Old Farm, Strawberry Hill, Albany. C Daniels
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East Perth Cemeteries

Through National Trusts Partnerships Program 
funding, conservation of the roof and drainage 
systems of St Bartholomew’s Church were addressed. 
Works included removal of intrusive brick and steel 
drains and replacement with discrete new below 
ground drains. Four individual graves were conserved 
through private donations to the tax deductible 
appeal.

Ellensbrook

The National Trust has partnered with the 
Department of Parks and Wildlife in rehabilitation 
works funded by a Department of Planning 
Coastwest grant. Work is progressing to conduct 
weed control and rehabilitation works in the 
Ellensbrook precinct to protect and enhance natural 
and cultural values in line with the Ellensbrook-
Mokidup Management Plan and the Leeuwin 
Naturaliste Capes Area Parks and Reserves 
Management Plan. It is anticipated that major 
conservation and interpretation works will be 
undertaken in 2016/17.

Conservation and Interpretation

L-R Cousins Ray Watson, Bruce Watson and Janice Watson inspect the newly conserved headstones at East Perth Cemeteries. G Pickering
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Jarrahdale

Discussions have been held with the Serpentine 
Jarrahdale Shire and the Jarrahdale Heritage 
Society in preparation for conservation works on 
the Mill Manager’s House and activation of the site.

Luisini Winery

Environmental monitoring allowed final clearance 
for connection of the winery to the mains 
sewerage system. Additional conservation and 
security works were also completed and the place 
is now ready for adaptive reuse. Expressions of 
interest will be sought for future development 
opportunities in the new financial year. 

57 Murray Street

Curtin University has signed a lease and opened  
57 Murray St for its long term use as a Law School. 
Fitout for this use has been completed with the 
National Trust acting as heritage consultants 
during the works. New facilities include a mock-
court, lecture rooms and offices. The National Trust 
also developed a new 57 Murray Street website. 
Movies, audio, text and images  consider some of 
the complex history of 57 Murray Street which was 
a centre for government bureaucracy, policy and 
innovation and had a deep impact on Aboriginal 
and non-Aboriginal communities across Western 
Australia.

Old Farm, Strawberry Hill

Thanks to assistance from the Jack Family Trust, 
research and planning work on a heritage orchard 
are complete. The development of the orchard of 
mainly pears and apples will reinforce the site’s 
historical use as a working farm. The orchard will 
also provide a number of opportunities for the 
development of public programs including 
seasonal festivals.  Rehabilitation planning of the 
lake and creek at Old Farm has also progressed.

The inauguration of the card system by the Colonial 
Secretary's Department would create personal files on all 
WA's Aboriginal people. G Pickering

Screenshot from www.57murraystreet.com.au

Conservation and Interpretation
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Furnishing Plans

Through the generous support of the Copland 
Foundation, the National Trust was able to 
commission Dr James Broadbent to prepare 
furnishing plans for two highly significant heritage 
places, Peninsula Farm and Old Farm, Strawberry 
Hill. Both houses require a more considered, 
informed and scholarly approach to their 
presentation including the appropriateness of the 
room contents, interior colour schemes, window 
treatments, floor coverings, furniture and other 
object placement and the identification of major 
gaps for future acquisition. There are also questions 
about how the rooms may have been used. 

Dr Broadbent visited Western Australia in late 
February and undertook in-depth visits to both 
properties and identified many avenues for further 
research, discussion and consideration. The 
resultant reports provide a wide range of actions 
for implementation. Some can be acted on with 
little resourcing required while others require 
achievable levels of funding and are ideally suited 
to grant requests or appeals for donations. There 
are of course some bigger recommendations that 
will require a substantial investment but can be 
pursued over time.

To have these two houses interrogated by a 
renowned expert on Australian colonial interiors 
has been a remarkable opportunity for the 
National Trust. Dr Broadbent’s previous lack of 
familiarity with these specific houses has been 
beneficial in that fresh eyes have opened many 
minds to other possibilities for their future 
interpretation and understanding. His reports have 
combined scholarly understanding with the 
practicalities of making the recommendations 
work for visitors and in a way that is actually 
achievable for the National Trust. 

Dr James Broadbent carefully examining paint finishes at Old Farm, 
Strawberry Hill with Sarah Murphy. K Rippingale

Wallpaper investigation and interpretation was undertaken at 
Peninsula Farm by Dr James Broadbent. S Murphy

Conservation and Interpretation
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Rev David Shearer Memorial

The Rev David Shearer (born 1832, Caithness, 
Scotland) initially worked as a teacher and was 
ordained in 1872. He was commissioned by the 
Established and Free Churches of Scotland to 
establish the Presbyterian Church in Western Australia 
and arrived in 1879 with his wife Margaret and 
children. He served for twelve years as Pastor of  
St Andrew’s Church and was a leading reformer in 
education. In 1891 Rev Shearer died of endocarditis 
and was buried the following day in East Perth 
Cemeteries. 

In 1937 the monument that marked the final resting 
place of the Reverent David Shearer was moved to 
the western side of St Andrew’s Church on the corner 
of St Georges Tce and Pier Street, Perth. The church 
and its adjoining hall have been sold to a developer, 
most likely for a new use as a hotel, providing a 
perfect opportunity to once again relocate the 
memorial but this time into the main cemetery 
reserve.

The massive operation was undertaken in November 
2015 with road closures in the city to allow for the 
enormous crane to pull up adjacent to the church. 
The memorial was cut into three pieces along 

existing joins and each section was carefully hoisted 
onto the truck. Almost five hours later the memorial 
arrived safely in the yard of Perth Monumental Works.

In the new year a structural engineer was engaged  
to analyse the soil and design footings sufficient to 
support the weight of the memorial. Excavations to  
a depth of 1.8 metres were dug by hand and then 
auger under the careful supervisor of the National 
Trust’s archaeologist Leanne Brass to ensure no 
burials were located beneath the plot.

After 10 days of concrete curing of the footings, the 
monument was relocated from its storage at Perth 
Monumental Works yard to the Cemeteries. The 
stepped marble base and then the column were 
transported and positioned in place with patience 
and precision during the first day of works. The urn, 
weighing approximately 450kg, was carefully 
positioned on the following day. 

The marble has been damaged by pollution and 
inappropriate cleaning in the past so future 
conservation works include cleaning, repairs to  
lead lettering and treatment of the iron railings. The 
project was funded jointly through the St Andrew’s 
Church tax deductable appeal and the generosity of 
the Uniting Church in Australia.

Reverend David Shearer.  
State Library of Western Australia 4744B

Perth Monumental Works staff delicately position the  
Shearer memorial at East Perth Cemeteries. M Dossin

Conservation and Interpretation
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Samson House

A small band of volunteers has continued  
to assist with work in the gardens of Samson 
House and welcomed new members.

Whitby Falls

Murdoch University has completed a clean-up 
of the hostel building and has agreed in 
principle to the National Trust using a portion 
of the building for storage purposes.  Boarding 
up and related works will commence once the 
lease arrangements have been finalised. 
National Trust staff have been involved in the 
stakeholder consultation for master planning 
of the site.

Conservation and Interpretation

Cowaramup Primary School excursion to Parkwater, March 2016. S Thomas

Covenanting

The National Trust has been running the Natural 
Heritage Conservation Covenant Program since 
1999 to provide formal protection for lands 
identified as having significantly high conservation, 
heritage and cultural values. As at 30 June 2016, 
the National Trust has implemented 180 covenants 
on properties with a cumulative total of 18,334 
hectares of bushland within the greater south west 
land division.

The National Trust maintained its high standards  
of conservation value for properties to be accepted 
into the covenant program.

The relationships with owners usually commence 
when the National Trust is asked to support a 
prospective subdivision application and continue 
through to the creation of subdivided lots and the 
restrictive covenant on title.

The National Trust continues to work with the 
Western Australian Planning Commission and 
Department of Parks and Wildlife in assisting owners 
clear conditions of subdivision. Apart from liaising 
with government agencies the work requires regular 
communication with land subdivision professionals.

There was only one query from a mining company 
which indicates a lessening of interest in miners 
seeking the assistance of the National Trust in offsets 
for the impact of mining on natural vegetation.

Properties are eligible for the Conservation 
Program when they contain native flora or fauna  
of sufficient quality to be self-sustaining and viable. 
For that reason, site assessments are carried out 
before final acceptance of any land.

Samson House garden volunteers. A Brake
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Natural Heritage

Covenant holders Carolyn Forte and Mark Robertson,  
Forest Grove. S ThomasSherry Thomas, Covenanting Officer South West Region. G Pickering

Stewardship

The core business of the Covenant Program in 
2015/2016 has been the Stewardship Program as 
part of the Trust’s ongoing commitment to support 
landowners in their conservation efforts. 

Landowners also provide the Trust with guidance 
and assistance in land management including 
updates on their flora and fauna sightings. The 
learning exchange is definitely the highlight of this 
program. Stewardship visits are ideally undertaken 
every three years. In 2015/2016, Covenanting 
Officers have undertaken thirty-six stewardship 
visits to covenanted properties.

Each covenanted property has a Bushland 
Management Plan which is developed by the Trust 
in consultation with the landowners and is revised 
every six years. The plans identify conservation, 
heritage and cultural values on the properties and 
set out actions to conserve and enhance them. 
Plans include an accumulative inventory of flora 
and fauna for each property, most of which have 
threatened and priority flora and fauna species 
present.

A review and update of current covenant 
procedures and processes has been underway 
during 2015/2016. In October 2015, Covenanting 
Officer, Peter Murphy retired after nine years of 
covenanting with the Trust. Sherry Thomas and 
Melissa Howe joined the National Trust as 
Covenanting Officers in 2015 based in the South 
West and Great Southern regions respectively.

Parkwater Estate

The National Trust is custodian of the natural 
bushland reserve at Parkwater Estate adjacent to 
the Cowaramup town site in the State’s south west.

The National Trust was successful in securing 
Royalties for Regions funding of $8,558 to 
revegetate an area alongside the creek at 
Parkwater which had been unusable in the winter 
due to extensive weeds. 

The Parkwater Community Group and National 
Trust collaborated to install a walk trail and bench 
seating at vantage points along the route, while 
the grant provided for the weed eradication and 
revegetation which on completion will create a 
usable (clearing) area now named Wandoo Rest. 
Two community workshops were held to support 
the work. They included information about weed 
identification and eradication and revegetation 
and landscaping with native plants. 

The National Trust hosted a Wildflower Walk last 
October and attracted over 50 walkers. Feedback 
was they enjoyed the day and learned a lot – and 
requested it to be a regular spring event.

While continued home building at Parkwater Estate 
has reduced the number of uncleared housing 
blocks, there has been an increase in sightings of 
western ringtail possums and quendas in the 
Parkwater area.
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Old Farm, Strawberry Hill archaeology program44



Over the last six years, the 
National Trust of Australia 
(WA) has played an 
integral role in the 
coordination of heritage 
education programs, not 
just in Western Australia, 
but at a national level.
Education is a core element which underpins one 
of the most fundamental roles of the National 
Trusts in Australia. In conserving and interpreting 
our nation’s heritage, it is essential to provide 
leadership in the recognition and importance of 
the value of the richness of Australia’s heritage 
(natural, Aboriginal and historic) at all levels and 
across all age ranges.
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Through the National Trusts Partnership Program 
(NTPP) for Education, the National Trusts in 
Australia have had an opportunity to build on an 
education commitment which, over the past six 
years, has enabled the development, resourcing 
and implementation of education programs 
primarily linked to the Australian Curriculum and 
able to be delivered at National Trust places, 
schools and other Australian heritage places/
events of significance.

With the generic theme of “valuing heritage”, 
educational schools programs have been 
implemented via the Australian Curriculum, initially 
through history (now Humanities and Social 
Sciences) and then other cross-curricula learning 
areas. These programs reinforce the recognition of 
natural, Aboriginal and historic values as core 
elements of our heritage.

Furthermore, the National Trusts have now 
expanded their heritage education programs to 
include public programs and online interactive 
programs to cover all age ranges, including seniors.

At a national level there are currently over 40 
primary programs, 10 secondary programs and 30 
public programs. In 2015-2016 there were over 
70,000 participants in National Trusts education 
programs, with over 10,000 participants in Western 
Australia. Key heritage education programs at 
National Trust of Australia (WA) places include: 
Peninsula Farm, East Perth Cemeteries, 
Woodbridge, No 1 Pump Station, Old Farm, 
Strawberry Hill, Samson House, Ellensbrook and 
York Courthouse Complex.

Convened by the National Trust of Australia (WA), 
the National Education Heritage Conference held 
for the first time at a national level, took place at 
the National Museum in Canberra on 20 and 21 

Education and Learning

This fantastic display was the result after an excursion to East Perth Cemeteries where students chose the grave of an individual  
Swan River colonist to research. A Flipse
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June 2016. The conference provided an excellent 
opportunity to share, celebrate and disseminate 
how National Trust places, through education 
programs and resources, can support learning, 
participation, engagement and the curriculum at 
primary, secondary and tertiary levels, alongside 
public and community learning. The conference 
also highlighted the following:

i. Opportunities provided by new technology and 
web resources in supporting excursions and 
‘incursions’ to National Trust places;

ii. Opportunities to reflect upon innovative and 
creative practice in heritage education; and

iii. Opportunities to increase the uptake of 
National Trust heritage education programs and 
resources in cooperation with relevant federal 
and State departments/agencies (including 
curriculum authorities), associations, 
organisations and all providers of education 
associated with cultural heritage.

Keynote speakers included Prof Carmen Lawrence, 
former Chair, Australian Heritage Commission, and 
Prof Richard Mackay, highly regarded for his 
contribution to Australia’s national heritage for 
over thirty years. Robert Randall, Chief Executive 
Officer, Australian Curriculum, Assessment and 
Reporting Authority was among the other twelve 
presenters at the conference which allowed all 
National Trusts, including Western Australia, to 
showcase the quality of programs on offer.

Education and Learning

Education Officer Diana Frylinck takes a class at East Perth Cemeteries. J Jones
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Archaeology

Gallop House

The foundations of a cottage, remnants of a chimney 
and more than 6,000 artefacts were uncovered 
during archaeological excavations when a team from 
the University of Western Australia’s Archaeology 
Department held a field school at Gallop House from 
28 September to 11 October 2015. As part of a 
broader conservation project at Gallop House the 
archaeological investigation focused on areas likely 
to be impacted by conservation and landscaping 
works and aimed to determine the location of earlier 
buildings on the site. The archaeological investigation 
entailed liaison with the City of Nedlands, the South 
West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council and the 
Department of Parks and Wildlife. 

The field school generated significant public interest 
with the archaeology team meeting many locals who 
contributed interesting personal stories and 
connections to the house. The results of the 
investigation have been used to inform 
interpretation, conservation and landscaping works. 
Some of the archaeological artefacts have been 
integrated with the interpretation within the house.

UWA’s Dr Sven Ouzman and National Trust 
Archaeologist Leanne Brass presented preliminary 
results of the archaeological investigation to 
Nedlands City Council on 8 December 2015 and the 
South West Aboriginal Land and Sea Council on  
13 April 2016. 

Dr Ouzman also presented a public talk at the 
Nedlands City Library on 18 April as part of the  
2016 Western Australian Heritage Festival.

Two UWA Masters students are currently undertaking 
research projects as a result of the field school into 
little known but potentially highly significant 
Aboriginal connections to the place and its use as a 
Chinese Market garden in the 1900s. 

Greenough

Gray’s Store and Temperance Lodge in Greenough 
are the subjects of PhD research by University of 
Western Australia Archaeologist Melissa 
Hetherington. Melissa commenced the first stage  
of her field work in November 2015 and presented 
some preliminary results at the 2015 Australasian 
Society for Historical Archaeology Conference. 
Further field work is scheduled and the community 
will be asked to comment on prospective uses for 
the site as part of a community consultration plan to 
activate the site.

Old Farm, Strawberry Hill

Following on from two successful archaeological field 
schools at Old Farm, Strawberry Hill, UWA’s Dr Alistair 
Paterson and Dr Sean Winter will publish the results 
of their research in the journal Australasian Historical 
Archaeology vol 34, 2016, which is dedicated to 
Western Australian historical archaeology projects.  
In addition UWA Honours student, Callum Forsey, 
completed a thesis on archaeological assemblages 
from Old Farm, Strawberry Hill (‘Fire, Destruction and 
Archaeology: An Artefact Analysis of Old Farm, 
Strawberry Hill, Albany.’)

Excavations at Gallop House during UWA archaeological field 
school. The University of Western Australia. L Cooper Artefact from Greenough excavation. UWA
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Goldfields Water Supply Scheme 
Historical Archaeology survey

Archaeological and Heritage Management Solutions 
(AHMS) was contracted to undertake an 
archaeological survey at No. 8 Pumping Station as 
part of funding received under the ‘Protecting our 
National Historic Sites’ grant scheme. Field work was 
carried out in December 2015 and a final report 
submitted in February 2016. The report has 
contributed to conservation planning at the site.

Archaeological Monitoring at Trust 
Properties

Dr Sean Winter was contracted to provide 
archaeological monitoring services at National Trust 
properties. His work at the Drill Hall identified a 
viable, intact and largely undisturbed underfloor 
deposit including layers that predate the building's 
construction in 1895 considered of high significance. 
Work at East Perth Cemeteries revealed a cut 
presumed to represent a grave however the trench 
was not excavated to a depth where either body or 
coffin could be encountered.

UWA Masters of Heritage Studies 
Internships

Under a Memorandum of Understanding with the 
University of Western Australia the Trust has also 
provided ongoing support for the Masters of 
Heritage Studies and Masters of Professional 
Archaeology programs by hosting a number of 
student interns. Siyi Wang and Xiang Yu from 

Zhejiang University in Hangzhou, Zhejiang Province, 
Eastern China completed a four week internship with 
the Trust in September 2015.

Masters of Professional Archaeology student, Lorna 
Cooper, and Masters of Heritage Studies student, 
Rhianna Couzens, are completing internships at the 
Trust, working on projects associated with Gallop 
House.

Western Australian Heritage Festival

The ‘Digging up the Past’ education program was run 
by Trust Archaeology and Education staff during the 
April school holidays at Old Farm, Strawberry Hill, 
Albany as part of the 2016 Western Australian 
Heritage Festival.

Two public talks were given at Old Perth Boys' School 
by Trust staff Gina Pickering, Caroline Stokes and 
Leanne Brass. The talks highlighted the conservation, 
interpretation and archaeological work undertaken at 
the place and were well-received.

Archaeology Education Programs

Preparation of a pilot Archaeology Education and 
Learning resource box for loan to primary schools has 
been completed. The program focusses on recent 
archaeological investigation undertaken at Trust 
properties and highlights why people study 
archaeology and what can be learned from studying 
a place through its found objects. A trial of the 
program will be undertaken with Trust Education staff.

UWA interns with Archaeologist Leanne Brass. G Pickering
Excavations at Gallop House during UWA archaeological  
field school. UWA
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Heritage Services

Heritage Services Department

The Heritage Services Department supports the 
National Trust’s activities in regard to advocacy, 
community support, research, archives and social 
media. Heritage Services is also responsible for the 
Aboriginal Foundations program. As part of the 
Trust’s advocacy activities, Heritage Services reviewed 
and provided a number of submissions during the 
year on development applications, local planning 
strategies and policies, management plans and 
places considered for inclusion on the State Register 
of Heritage Places.

Heritage Appeals

The National Trust operates over 60 tax deductible 
heritage appeals managed by community groups 
throughout Western Australia. A review of the 
heritage appeal program was undertaken this year to 
ensure the initiative continues to bring substantial 
community benefit and an opportunity to further 
build partnerships and support the conservation and 
interpretation of our heritage. This program has 
immense opportunities to provide a tangible 
community benefit and will continue to be grown 
and developed.

Community Support

The Heritage Services Department develops positive 
relationships and partnerships through the provision 
of services including strategic planning, heritage 
assessments and conservation management for 
community benefit. 

The Heritage Services 
Department supports the 
National Trust’s activities 
in regard to advocacy, 
community support, 
research, archives and 
social media. 

Offering to the Chinese ancestors at Qing Ming (Tomb-Sweeping 
Day) at Christmas Island. G Pickering

The Whaler's Wife  is part of The Busselton Settlement Art Project 
supported by a National Trust appeal. J Happ. City of Busselton

Picture Palaces of the Golden West. L Sturis50



This year a Conservation Management Plan was 
completed for Temple David in Mt Lawley. This Plan 
will assist the congregation in managing the heritage 
significance of the Temple through practical policies.

Christmas Island

National Trust planners, architects, heritage and 
interpretation staff visited Christmas Island in April 
2016 and are preparing an integrated conservation 
strategy for the Island place and interpretation 
strategy to communicate the unique and 
internationally recognised heritage values of the 
place to locals and visitors. National Trust architects  
prepared measured drawings of 18 Chinese temples 
to inform a conservation plan for these important 
cultural artefacts. A program of consultation both on 
the island and with expatriates is informing the 
strategies which are due in September.

Heritage Committees

The Classification Standing Committee, Art Deco 
Committee and Defence Heritage Committee 
continued to be supported by Heritage Services.  
These technical committees are volunteer members 
who provide advice and expertise on various topics 
and issues related to  heritage.

Heritage Records

The National Trust was the first organisation in 
Western Australia to record places of heritage 
significance in this State from the 1950-60s. Through 
this work, the List of Classified Places developed and 

is supported by an archive consisting of heritage 
assessments, histories and research, management 
plans, correspondence, articles, photographs, plans 
and maps. Heritage Services is responsible for 
maintaining this significant collection which supports 
the Trust’s advocacy activities and is available as a 
community and educational resource. National Trust 
volunteer Graeme Gerrans has been auditing 
National Trust records on formal and informal 
cemeteries scattered throughout the State. This work 
will ensure  the records are accurate and up to date.

New Publications

The National Trust supported the publication of a 
new book, Picture Palaces of the Golden West by 
Vyonne Geneve and Ron Facius. This book was 
developed over several years and is a result of ten 
years research by Ms Geneve into Art Deco era 
picture palaces. The subject matter was extended to 
include the history of cinema in Western Australia 
from the time of travelling projectionists of the 1890s 
to multiplex cinemas in the 1990s. Heritage Services 
worked closely with the authors to publish and 
launch the book in June 2016. 

Social Media

Heritage Services staff are responsible for the 
National Trust’s web content (WA) and social media 
including Facebook, Twitter and Instagram. This is an 
important way for the Trust to communicate with  
the membership and general community. New and 
completed projects, activities and events and other 
happenings around the State are regularly posted.

Festival time at Christmas Island. G Pickering Handmade paper offerings prepared at Christmas Island. G Pickering

51



Heritage Services

Aboriginal Foundations

For the last ten years the National Trust has been 
working with Aboriginal communities through 
Aboriginal Foundations. 

Foundations are committees established under the 
auspices of the National Trust which provide strong 
governance and management frameworks. Aboriginal 
Foundations assist communities to develop cultural 
heritage projects while developing organisational 
infrastructure with the long term aim of becoming 
effective and efficient independent organisations. 

The work of these committees has 
continued to grow throughout  
2015-2016.

Budadee Foundation

The Budadee Foundation brings together members 
of the Palyku community with the principal aim of 
ensuring the Woodstock/Abydos region of the Pilbara 
is properly cared for. This long neglected part of 
Western Australia contains the largest inland 
collection of rock art which has been nominated for 
National heritage listing. 

The Foundation has built on previous years’ work and is 
in the final stages of developing culturally appropriate 
and meaningful management plans and strategies 

David Dann from Noongar Boodjar Language Centre. J Zwartkruis

The young Irrungadji women work together to paint the Seven Sisters campsite, 
whilst their mothers and grandmothers look on. Terra Rosa Consulting

Tjupan singers with Richard Hookway perform at the opening of 
the Aboriginal Language Alliance Conference. J Zwartkruis52



for the place. With these strategies in place the focus 
will turn to implementing a rangers program. The 
Foundation is supported by Atlas Iron Ore.

Goldfields Aboriginal Language Centre

The work of the Ngalia Foundation in the rescue and 
revival of Aboriginal Languages of the Goldfields 
region greatly expanded in 2015-2016 with the 
establishment of the Goldfields Aboriginal Language 
Centre. Based in Kalgoorlie, the Centre serves as a 
resource hub for the continued work with 
endangered languages of the region. The Centre also 
held the biannual Western and Northern Aboriginal 
Language Alliance Conference in June 2016. The 
Kalgoorlie conference attracted more than 130 
participants from around the country and further 
consolidates the National Trust’s role in this important 
area of cultural heritage. The Goldfields Aboriginal 
Language Centre is supported by the Federal 
Government through the Department of 
Communications.

Gamburlarna Foundation

The Gamburlarna Foundation was established by 
members of the Yindjibarndi people of the 
Roebourne areas to assist in the development of 
sustainable cultural heritage and environmental 
projects. The collection of “untold stories” from 

members of the community was the focus this year 
and recordings in language were later translated into 
English. These videos along with work previously 
completed will be brought together in a cultural map 
for use by the community and general public. The 
Foundation is now focusing on training Aboriginal 
people to manage this activity independently. This 
project is supported by Fortescue Metals Group.

Heritage Knowledge Repatriation Project

In addition to the work with Foundations, the 
National Trust has been working on the Heritage 
Knowledge Repatriation Project. The project is an 
initiative of BHP Billiton, Rio Tinto and Fortescue 
Metals Group which aims to ensure Aboriginal 
people have appropriate and meaningful access and 
control of their cultural heritage information and 
knowledge that has been collected over the last four 
decades and held by those resource companies. 

The project has moved from the initial planning 
stages to implementation planning with agreement 
to participate from three Aboriginal communities, the 
identification of the technological solution to be 
utilised and establishment of the governance and 
management framework for the project. Full 
implementation is scheduled for 2016-2017.

Heritage Services

Family shot of the women and children of Irrungadji community who contributed to the mural. Terra Rosa Consulting
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Public Programs

CY O’Connor Lecture

Her Excellency the Honourable Kerry Sanderson AC, 
Governor of Western Australia presented the 2016 CY 
O’Connor Lecture. Bringing together her formidable 
diversity of expertise in finance, transport and ports 
having led programs of major reform, the Governor 
encouraged the audience to embrace far sighted 
initiatives, highlighting the need for courage and 
kindness if we are to learn from CY O’Connor’s legacy. 
Held at the Constitutional Centre, the lecture also 
included a display of beautiful quilts by WA Inspired 
Quilt Group who make small quilts with Western 
Australian themes with this year’s project focusing on 
the Goldfields Water Supply Scheme.

The lecture was supported by the Water Corporation.

2016 National Trust Heritage Festival 

The Honorable Albert Jacobs MLA launched the  
2016 National Trust Heritage Festival at the recently 
conserved Old Perth Boys’ School. Community 
groups from Esperance to the Burrup hosted over 
160 events in response to this year’s festival theme – 
Discovery and Rediscoveries. Over 40 events were 
held in in regional areas.

The Heritage Festival received valuable support from 
Westlink Vast 602 television to bring an exclusive 
preview of festival events to regional areas for the  
first time. The program was broadcast forty two times 
over two weeks to 100 Community Resources 
Centres giving valuable exposure to the regions.  
The program, hosted by the National Trust’s Gina 
Pickering, featured interviews with Lauretta Davies 
(Curator, Bunbury Museum), Jenna van Niekerk 
(Gilbert’s Potoroo Action Group), Julie Hutchens 
(National Trust Festival  coordinator), Dr Jonathan 
Fitzgerald (artist in residence for Sound from the 
Ground), and concluded with a sneak preview 
performance by the Perth Guitar Quartet. 

All National Trust properties open to the public across 
the heritage festival offered ‘Free Entry Sundays’ and 
12 events were held specifically at National Trust 
properties. 

Her Excellency the Honourable Kerry Sanderson AO with Max Kay 
AM Cit WA, President, NTWA; Sue Murphy, CEO Water Corporation, 
The Hon Michael Murray AM QC, Chairman National Trust of 
Australia (WA) and Julian Donaldson, CEO National Trust of 
Australia (WA). G Pickering

The Governor with the women from WA Inspired Quilt Group.  
G Pickering
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Christmas Carols at Peninsula Farm

More than 300 people attended Christmas Carols on 
a warm December afternoon. Carol Foley provided a 
Welcome to Country and Councillor Colonel (retired) 
Robert Mitchell was Master of Ceremonies for a 
festive event overlooking the Swan River.

Tuxedo Junction led the crowd with a mix of 
Christmas carols at the afternoon event which was 
attended by many families with young children.

National Trust President Max Kay also performed a 
popular rendition of John Williamson’s "Home Among 
the Gum Trees".

National Trust volunteers helped children re-enact 
the Nativity on the lawn outside Hardey’s former 
home during the afternoon and the Rev Caroline 
Gepp provided a Christmas blessing.

Anzac Ceremony at Peninsula Farm

The Anzac Day Sunset Service at Peninsula Farm has 
become a traditional and important event on the 
National Trust and Peninsula Farm calendar. Set on 
the banks of the Swan River the Anzac Day Sunset 
Service is a fitting recognition of the servicemen and 
servicewomen who have served our country and is 
well supported by the local community and business. 
The Peninsula Farm volunteers are vital to the success 
of the day.

Christmas Carols by the river at Peninsula Farm. K Lomas

Contributing to a successful Festival launch (L-R) Dr Ken Michael AC, 
Deborah Terry Vice Chancellor Curtin University, the Hon Albert Jacob 
and National Trust Chair Michael Murray AM QC contributed to a 
successful Heritage Festival Launch. G Pickering

On set at Westlink Studio recording the Western Australian 
Heritage Festival preview for regional audiences. S Murphy 
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Trust News Australia continued to provide a 
national service to National Trust stakeholders 
and members during 2015/2016. 

Trust News Australia is a major education and learning tool for the National Trust.56



Trust News Australia continued to provide a 
national service to National Trust stakeholders 
and members during 2015/2016. The quarterly 
magazine supported by the Department of 
Environment has been edited and produced by 
the National Trust of Australia (WA) from its 
inception and over seven years to become a 
major education and learning tool. 

Available in hardcopy and digital format, Trust 
News Australia reported on National Trust 
programs, initiatives and projects from each state 
and territory and included a range of articles from 
leading guest contributors about heritage matters.

Significant events such as the centenary of Gallipoli 
and the 400th anniversary of the landing of Dirk 
Hartog on the Western Australian coast featured as 
major content themes during 2015/2016 and 

stories were contributed by international 
specialists. 

Edited by Gina Pickering and produced by the 
National Trust of Australia (WA), Trust News 
Australia during 2015/2016 increased to 75 stories, 
its coverage of national and international heritage.

The state based publication Trust News WA 
presented an additional 64 Western Australian 
heritage stories. 

Online National Trust publication access increased 
during 2015/2016 through the Issuu digital 
distribution account. The monthly distribution of the 
Trust E-News service via Campaign Monitor to the 
National Trust of Australia (WA) membership also 
delivered heritage event highlights during the year.

INNOVATION

Julian Donaldson takes helm as CEO 
National Trust of Australia (WA) Chairman Michael Murray announced in January, the appointment 

of Julian Donaldson to the top job of the National Trust in Western Australia.

“I am delighted to announce Julian 
Donaldson has agreed to accept our 
offer of appointment to this 
important leadership role for a five 
year term,” Mr Murray said.

Mr Donaldson has had a long 
association with the highly 
successful Perth International Arts 
Festival as General Manager and has 
been instrumental over a decade in 
delivering to Perth audiences, a 
captivating line-up of leading 
international performances.

“His entrepreneurial and leadership 
skills are well demonstrated in this 
capacity and I am sure he will find 
The Giants hard to top in his new 
role as the CEO of the Trust.  We look 
forward to the Trust being the 
beneficiary of his undoubted vision 
and management skills,” he said.

Mr Donaldson said it was a privilege 
to be appointed to the position and 
he looked forward to the role with a 
great deal of excitement, enthusiasm 
and admiration for the wonderful 
work the Trust does.

“I look forward to working with the 
Council, staff, members and the 
broader community in tackling the 
important priorities of increasing the 
commitment of stakeholders to 
heritage projects and programs and 
in working to increase the resource 
to meet capital and recurrent 
investment for heritage projects, 
programs and the maintenance of 
places,” Mr Donaldson said.

Mr Donaldson replaces long serving 
CEO, Tom Perrigo who led the Trust 
through enormous organisational  

transformation over 25 years and 
retired at the close of 2015. 

The Trust recently marked its 
gratitude for Tom Perrigo’s 
outstanding service by the award of 
only the third National Trust 
Fellowship in the history of the 
National Trust in WA.

“We are, however fortunate to have 

secured his continuing service to the 
Trust over the next few years, as a 
special projects consultant, and we 
look forward to receiving the benefit 
of his service in this new way,” Mr 
Murray said.

Julian Donaldson commenced his 
new position as CEO at the National 
Trust of Australia (WA) on the  
18 January.
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ABOVE: Julian Donaldson, new CEO of National Trust of Australia (WA). G Pickering

INNOVATION

Governor calls for Courage and Kindness
Her Excellency the Hon Kerry Sanderson AO, Governor of Western Australia highlighted the potentially 

lethal impact of published public criticism and called for courage and support for people confronting 

mental health issues when she presented the National Trust of Australia (WA)’s CY O’Connor Lecture, 16 

March 2016 at the Constitutional Centre.

The Governor drew on her 
distinguished career as CEO of the 
Fremantle Ports for 17 years when 
she highlighted the foresight of CY 
O’Connor in his planning and 
execution of the original port 
development and in particular the 
Fremantle’s inner harbour. 

The infrastructure was a game 
changer for Western Australia at a 
turning point in wealth and 
population growth. A series of rarely 
seen Fremantle Port Authority 
archival documents illustrated the 
acclaimed engineer’s concepts and 
vision for a sell out audience which 
included many O’Connor decedents.

Detailing O’Connor’s success as an 
engineer for New Zealand’s 
challenging harbours before he took 

up his new post in WA, the Governor 
described the Irish engineer as 
someone who was evidenced base, 
accurate, committed and who rarely 
took any holidays.

O’Connor’s demise, lack of support 
and his suicide in the ocean off Robb 
Jetty, south of Fremantle on 10 
March 1902 was central to the 
Governor’s lecture. She called for 
more kindness and courage in the 
work place. The Governor who is the 
Patron of the National Trust in 
Western Australia said she spent 
every day in an environment created 
by CY O’Connor during her time 
with the Fremantle Port Authority. A 
collection of evocative small quilts 
by the WA Quilters were displayed 
during the event and focussed CY 
O’Connor’s life and death.  

The unique works were purchased 
well before the end of the night.

The National Trust holds the CY 
O’Connor Lecture each year on or 
about the anniversary of his death to 
celebrate his legacy by considering 
creativity, sustainability and 
humanity in the pursuit of excellence.

View the CY O’Connor Lecture at 
www.nationaltrust.org.au/wa
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ABOVE: Her Excellency the Hon Kerry Sanderson AO 
presents the 2016 CY O’Connor. Lecture G Pickering

ABOVE: WA Quilters show the Governor a display of their work depicting CY O’Connor’s life.  
G Pickering

ABOVE: Detail of one of the colourful quilts. G Pickering

INNOVATION

Drones, digs and descendants at Gallop House  GINA PICKERING

A team of more than 20 student archaeologists from the University of Western Australia (UWA) completed 

surface surveys and targeted excavations in the grounds at National Trust of Australia (WA) property 

Gallop House, Dalkeith and the adjacent City of Nedlands reserve during October at a unique field school. 

The collaborative project between 
the National Trust and UWA 
involved the use of aerial drones and 
metal detectors to locate and assess 
for the first time, archaeological 
evidence connected with the 
development of Gallop House and 
Dalkeith Farm - one of the Swan 
Colony’s first farms.  

The young team also included a 
descendent of Scottish born Captain 
Adam Armstrong who established 
‘Dalkeith Farm’ on the foreshore of 
Melville Water in 1831. Dalkeith 
would become the name of the 
suburb. Will Alan second year 
archaeology student enjoyed 
showing his grandmother Anne 

Alan (nee Armstrong) and 
grandfather Jim Alan through the

trenches and artefacts that are a 
focus of the archaeological 
fieldwork.

Will described the links as an 
amazing coincidence and said he 
tried to stay objective during the 
field work.

“He was really quite a brave man to 
come here in the middle of nowhere 
by western standards and the family 
connection has a strong pull for me,” 
Will Alan said.

Will’s Grandmother Anne Alan was 
thrilled to visit the site and said the 
family had once attended a family 

reunion in the two storey Gallop 
House built after Adam Armstrong 
and his children relocated to the 
Murray River.

Inside this issue
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ABOVE: UWA Archaeology students enjoy the fieldwork at the Gallop House domestic trench. G Pickering

ABOVE: UWA Archaeology student Will Alan with 
his Grandmother Anne during the Gallop house 
fieldwork. G Pickering
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East Perth Cemeteries is a valued environment for National Trust Education programs. J Jones



Employment and Industrial Relations

Number and Category of Staff

As at 30 June 2016 the National Trust had the 
following number of employees:

No. and Category 2015-16 2014-15

Full-time permanent 10 12

Full-time contract 14 12

Part-time permanent 2 2

Part-time contract 3.6 4.29

Secondment 1 0

Staff Development

The National Trust is committed to providing the best 
possible development opportunities for its staff, 
enabling them to maintain a high level of skills and 
meet advances in processes and technology.

National Trust employees are encouraged to develop 
their career pathways through professional 
development and training, self and formal staff 
evaluations, provision of flexible work options,  
health and wellness programs supported by training 
and mentoring.

Recruitment

Selection and recruitment processes are maintained 
at a consistently high standard to ensure 
appointment of people to positions with the 
appropriate level of skills and diversity to enhance 
the quality of service provision.

Workers Compensation

There have been no compensation claims recorded 
during the financial year.

Governance Disclosures

Unauthorised use of Credit Cards

Officers of the National Trust of Australia (WA) hold 
corporate credit cards where their functions warrant 
usage of this facility and must adhere to the National 
Trust of Australia (WA) credit card policy. There were 
however, two occasions where personal expenses 
were inadvertently taken from corporate credit cards. 
One was related to an extension of personal 
accommodation following a work related project, 
with the cost attributed to the corporate credit card 
and not to the individual personal card, and the other 
relating to the full and not part-payment of 
membership renewals. The correction was made on 
both occasions and all monies immediately 
reimbursed. The matter did not require any 
disciplinary action as the Chief Finance Officer noted 
prompt advice and settlement of the personal use 
amount, and, that the nature of the expenditure was 
immaterial and characteristic of an honest mistake.

Measure 2015-16

Number of personal use instances 2

Aggregate amount of personal 
expenditure for the reporting period

$1761

Aggregate amount of personal 
expenditure settled by the due date 

$1761

Aggregate amount of personal 
expenditure settled after the due date

0

Aggregate amount of personal 
expenditure outstanding at the end of 
the reporting period

0

Number of referrals for disciplinary action 
instigated during the reporting period

0

Conflict of Interest

At the date of reporting, no Senior Officers, or 
organisations of which Senior Officers are members, 
have substantial interests in existing or proposed 
contracts with the National Trust.
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Australian Council of National Trusts

The Australian Council of National Trusts is a 
company limited by guarantee, established by State 
and Territory Trusts to coordinate national activities 
including reviewing legislation and policy relating to 
heritage, managing heritage awareness programs 
such as ‘Heritage@Risk’ and supporting the objectives 
of the Australian National Trust movement.

Contracts with Senior Officers

At the date of reporting, no Senior Officers, or firms of 
which Senior Officers are members, or entities in 
which Senior Officers have substantial interests, had 
any interests in existing or proposed contracts with 
the National Trust of Australia (WA) other than normal 
contracts of employment of service.

Other Legal Requirements

Advertising

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 
1907, the National Trust is required to report on 
expenditure incurred during the financial year in 
relation to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations and media 
advertising organisations.

Total expenditure for 2015-2016 was $0.

Expenditure Total Expenditure Amount

Advertising 
Agencies

Nil Nil $0

Market Research 
organisations

Nil Nil $0

Polling 
organisations

Nil Nil $0

Direct mail 
organisations

Nil Nil $0

Media 
advertising 
organisations

Nil Nil $0

Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
Outcomes

The National Trust is aware of the importance of a 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan in accordance 
with the Disability Services Act 1993, s.29 and 
Schedule 3 of the Disability Services Regulations 
2004. Although the Trust remains committed to the 
development of the plan, requests for resources to 
write the plan have been unsuccessful. All new 
projects adhere to requirements.

Mindful of the limitations of some heritage places, 
people with disabilities do generally have the 
opportunity to access National Trust places and 
participate in its activities.

Compliance with Public Sector Standards 
and Ethical Codes

The National Trust is compliant with Public Sector 
Standards and Ethical Codes including its own code 
of conduct in line with the WA Code of Ethics and 
conduct guidelines as provided by the Office of 
Public Sector Standards. 

Record Keeping Plans

The efficiency and effectiveness of the National 
Trust’s record keeping plan, as a requirement under 
s.19 of the State Records Act 2000 (SR Act), is 
evaluated every five years to assess the extent to 
which the plan meets the record keeping policy 
objectives. 

In line with the Strategic Plan 2011-2016, the  
National Trust’s commitment to best practice has 
seen the development and introduction of an 
Electronic Data Records Management System which 
will provide better processes for record keeping.
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Government Policy Requirements

Substantive Equality

The National Trust is aware of the intent and 
substance of the Policy Framework for Substantive 
Equality and has worked within the guidelines of the 
framework to ensure there is substantive equality in 
all services delivered by the National Trust.

Occupational Safety, Health and Injury 
Management

The National Trust is committed to taking all 
reasonably practicable measures under Section 19 of 
the Occupational Safety and Health Act (OSH Act), to 
protect the safety and health of its employees, 
volunteers and other people within the workplace, 
including contractors and to ensure there are safe 
systems of work.

Upon induction employees are informed of the 
formal and informal processes and measures to 
ensure a safe working environment for them. The 
organisation has employees who are trained as 
Occupational Health and Safety Officers, who are 
accessible to employees, as required.

Measure Actual Results Results Against Target

2014-15 2015-16 Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) N/A

Lost time injury/disease (LTI/D) 
incidence rate

Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) N/A

Lost time injury severity rate Zero (0) Zero (0) Zero (0) N/A

Percentage of injured workers returned to work:

(i) within 13 weeks 100% 100% 100% N/A

(ii) within 26 weeks 100% 100% 100% N/A

Percentage of managers trained  
in occupational safety, health and 
injury management 
responsibilities

100% 100% Greater than or 
equal to 80%

N/A
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1. Bequests and Donations

2. Sponsorships and Grants

3. Honorary and Life Members

• Honorary and Life 
Members

• Committees of Council

• Active Volunteers

4. Council and  
Executive Attendance

5. Honour and  
Award Recipients

• 2015 Volunteer Awards

• 2015 Special Awards

6. Classified Places  
and Objects

7. National Trust  
Managed Properties

8. Heritage Appeals 2015-2016

Gray's Store, Greenough. M Hetherington



Appendix 1
Bequests and Donations

Arthur Anstis
Eric Atkins
Catherine Bardon
Beverley Patchwork Quilters
Peter Backshall
Janet Bailey 
Ronald Barratt 
Eileen Bibby
Gena Binet
Mary Birch
Shelley Boyton
Jesse Brampton
Jess Bridges
Anastasia Brown
Carol Brown
Linda Brown-Davies
Simon Browne 
Geoffrey Bunce
Joanne Bunce
Crosthwaite Family 
Maurice Cammack
Mary Carter
Geoffrey Cattach
Pierre Chambel 
David Chambers
Michael Chester
Mitchell Cleghorn
Maria Cuevas
Vicky Dodds
Isla Edgecombe
Alison Fox
Elizabeth Frayne
John Gandini
Robert Garton-Smith
Simon Gilby 
Doris Gooch
Clive Greenhill
Susanne Hale
Susan Hall
Marolyn Hamilton
David Harris
Rhonda Hill 
Kate Hislop 
Duncan Hodgson
Sheryl Hudson
Malcome Idione 
Jeremy James
Susan James
Kenneth Jeffrey
Pathika Jones 
Pamela Kennerly

Michael Konrath
Paul Lee
Christine Lewis
Jane Lydon
Brett MacRae 
Ian Maitland
Susan Marti
Joan Martin
Setsu Masuda 
Martin Mathew
Gillian Meecham
Walter Mueller
Bernard Mulroy
Madeleine Murphy 
Michael Murray
Sylvia Murray
Catherine O’Connor
Patricia O’Neill
Lyall Page
Valerie Pannell
Jane Papalia 
Thomas Perrigo
Bernard Phillips
Jerry Pinnow
Pamela Pitt
Carol Pocock
Julie Pynt 
Anne and Rod Read 
Jacqueline Reed
Marjorie Richardson
William Ridley
Ruth Robertson
Rotary Club of Matilda Bay
Peter Schifferli
Michael Seeber
Peter Shannon
Henrietta Sharpe
David Shearer
Kenneth Sherwood
Helen Shurven 
Kevin Skipworth
Judith Smith
Kathleen Smith
Philip Smith
Andrew Stewart
Cornelius Terwindt
Peggy Thorn
David Tunley
Raymond Upston
Linda Urh
Lorraine Vanyai
Yvonne Wade 
Anne Wallace
Mollie Walsh 

Raymond Watson 
Lynette Watt
Barbara Weeks
Francis Wheatley
Lynette White
George Wynne
Don Young

The National Trust sends a sincere 
expression of gratitude to its 
Supporters, Sponsors, Partners and 
Benefactors; if someone has been 
inadvertently omitted please accept 
our sincere apologies.

Appendix 2
Sponsorships and Grants

The National Trust values the 
generosity of its Sponsors which 
allow the projects and programs to 
continue and wishes to 
acknowledge the organisations 
listed below.

The Australian Government supports 
the National Trust Heritage Festival 
through funding and promotion of 
events on the Australian Heritage 
Week website.

Atlas Iron
BHP Billiton
Community Arts Network of 
Western Australia
Copland Foundation
Curtin University
Department of Culture and Arts
Department of Environment
Department of Regional Australia, 
Local Government, Arts and Sports
Department of Sustainability, 
Environment, Water, Population 
and Communities
Engineers Australia
Feilman Foundation
Fortescue Metals Group
Lotterywest
National Trusts of Australia
RAC
State NRM Office, WA
Terra Rosa 
The Senior
Department of Planning, WA
Water Corporation
Westlink
98.5 Sonshine FM
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Appendix 3
Honorary and Life Members

Honorary and Life Members
Fellows of the Trust
Michal Lewi AM

Thomas E Perrigo

Life Members
Ronald Bodycoat AM

Eileen Brown

Dr Fiona Bush

Heather Dayman

Pamella Hall

Joyce Hardy

Dr Cleve Hassell

Katherine McLarty

Frank Montgomery OAM

Dr Phillip Playford AM

Roslyn Stewart OAM

Don Strang

Valmai Symons

Committees of Council
National Trust of Australia 
(WA) Council
Gregory Boyle (Deputy Chair 2015)

Helen Cogan (Secretary)

Dr Kenneth Collins AM CitWA

Hon John Cowdell AM  
(Vice President)

Hon Cheryl Edwardes

Dr Stephen Errington

Grant Godfrey

Graham Goerke

Prof Jenny Gregory AM

Max Hipkins

Roger Jennings

Max Kay AM CitWA (President)

Christine Lewis (Vice President)

Dr Ken Michael AC  
(Deputy Chair 2016)

Jocelyn Mitchell

Colonel (Ret’d) Robert Mitchell

Geoff Moor

Hon Michael Murray QC AM 
(Chair)

John Palermo (Treasurer)

Irene Stainton

Prof John Stephens

Dr Robyn Taylor

Dr Michael Wheatley

Executive Committee
Helen Cogan (Secretary)

Hon John Cowdell AM  
(Vice President)

Julian Donaldson (CEO) (2016)

Hon Cheryl Edwardes

Grant Godfrey

Prof Jenny Gregory AM

Max Hipkins

Max Kay AM CitWA (President)

Christine Lewis (Vice President)

Dr Ken Michael AC (Deputy Chair)

Hon Michael Murray QC AM 
(Chair)

John Palermo (Treasurer)

Thomas Perrigo (Former CEO) 
(2015)

Finance and Audit Committee
Pasquo Cirillo (CFO)

Grant Godfrey (Chairman)

Peter King

John Palermo (Treasurer)

Julian Donaldson (CEO)

Membership and Volunteer 
Committee
Hon John Cowdell AM 

Roger Jennings

Max Kay AM CitWA

Art Deco Committee
Dr Theo Bredmeyer 

Jean Clark 

Ron Facius

Vyonne Geneve

Linda Montgomery

Classification Standing 
Committee
Dr Fiona Bush (Chair)

Sandy Curtis

Vyonne Geneve

Caroline Grant

Eric Hancock

Graham Horne

Robert Mitchell

Geoffrey Moor 

Judi Murray

Don Newman

Philippa Rogers

Inger Russell

Prof John Stephens

Dr Robyn Taylor

Defence Heritage
Helen Birch

Graham Horne

Graham McEwan (Co-opted 
Member)

Graham Mackenzie Smith

John Mercer (Co-opted Member)

Robert Mitchell (Chair/Secretary)

Don Rae (Co-opted Member)

Zoe Scott (Co-opted Member)

John Stephens (Deputy Chair)

Trails WA
Rod Annear (Ex Officio)

Jamie Bennett

Steve Bennett (Ex Officio)

Anne Brake

Linda Daniels (Ex Officio)

Kylie Frazer

Stuart Harrison

Matt Hewitson

Jenny Nichol

Peter Rossdeutscher (Chair)

Aboriginal Advisory 
Committee
Mark bin Bakar

Harley Coyne

Charmaine Green

Kado Muir

Irene Stainton (Chair)

Budadee Foundation
Robert Cheedy

Blaze Kwaymulina

Reggie Malana  

David Milroy

Dwayne Stream (Chair)

Kevin Stream 

Walter Stream

Lindsay Yuline

Gamburlana Foundation
Rodney Adams
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Davina Boyd

Michael Gallagher (Chair)

Jayne Ranger

Ken Sandy

Ricky Sandy

Diana Smith

Jill Tucker

K & P Foundation
Alfred Barker

Raylene Button

Ron Colman

Elsa Derschow

Louise Hansen

Jeanette Hasleby

Karl Haynes

Andrew Johnson

Ian O’Donnell

Diana Robinson

Jennifer Robinson

Deb Shaw

Enzo Sirna

Kevin Stewart

Walter Stream

Matera Foundation
Lauren Gillott

Hayden Lowe

Peter Matera

Giovanna Rotondella

John Thompson

Ngalia Foundation
Amanda Gilbert  

Cyril Gilbert

Deeva Muir

Kado Muir  (Chair)

Talbot Muir

Zabar Muir

Jennifer Narrier

Shirley Wonyabong

Active Volunteers
Avondale
John Alexander

Pat Alexander

Dina Barrett-Lennard

Luke Blanch

Richard Boladeras

Bill Errey

Deidre Gowland

Rachel Hadlow

Duayne Haeusler

John Hawke

Simon Innes

Jo Johnson

Kai Keremeta

Michelle Kerr

Deborah Kitai

Mark Kitai

Kerry Malone

Gregory Manzie

Michael Martin

Sue Martin

Valda Morton

Erin Nicol

John Pratt

Dee Ridgeway

Kathleen Rudd

David Shopland

Raymond Walters

Ron Waterhouse

Central Greenough
Paul Baldock

Melissa Hetherington

Shane Hill

Max Royce

East Perth Cemeteries
Brian Anderson

Shirley Babis

Jan Barker

Colin Caughey

Robin Creswell

Graeme Gerrans

Valmae Hogan

John James

Hamilton Leask

Lyall Page

Keith Roberton

Carol Sharp

Ellensbrook
Anna Straub

Events
Karin Haveman

Harry Mithen

Christine Stokes

Jarrahdale
Helen Huxley

Janice Jones

Ross Jones

Charles Kerfoot

Victoria Kerfoot

David Keron

Ian Nice

Janis Star

Sheila Twine

Simon Watling

No 1 Pump Station
Jim Allen

Barry Bryant

Helen Bryant

Marika Burke

Terence Crawford

Bill (William) Cutler

Annie Gregory

Bethlyn Jarvis

Keith Jarvis

Roger Jennings

Bill (William) McEwan

Lyall Page

Maxwell Wishaw

Don Young

No 8 Pump Station
Frederick Ellis

Old Blythewood
Maxwell Armstrong

Glenn Boardman

Pamela Boardman

Heather Dayman

Merle McAlpine

Lynette Oliver

John Pace

Geraldine Taylor

Vince Taylor

Old Farm, Strawberry Hill
Margaret Adams

Jarrod Andrews

Ashleigh Annandale

Linda Barton

Diane Bee

Kate Bolt

Madeleine Bolt
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Laura Bowman

Inger Brooks

Andrew Chalkley

Beverley Chapman

Marianne Chester

Maxwell Chester

Eve Clark

Faye Clay

Dave Cockburn

Jennifer Cockburn

Helen Cope

Michael Day

Felicity Dickinson

Angela Donnelly

Janet Evans

John Evans

Andy Fehrman

Lee (Leone) Fernie

Denise Graham

Deborah Guest

Ruth (Linda) Harloe

Ainsley Harrison

Sharon Higgins

Margaret Hoare

Sue Johnson

Terry (Alan) Jones

George Kavanagh

Joanne Lane

Kerry Lewis

Roger Logan

Christine Lowrie

Peter Lunt

Seonaid MacKay

Julia Marsh

Brian McCrow

Frank McDonald

Alwyn Middleton

Anne Middleton

Anne North

Narelle Pridmore

Janet Quinery

Alan Rayfield

Francis Rayfield

Marianne Rendell

Gwendolyn Slater

June Webb

Diane Webster

Ashleigh Wellstead

Judith Williams

Old Observatory
Graeme Gerrans

Maureen Perham

Karen Polmear-Haveman

Keith Roberton

Ramesh Somasunderam

Christine Stokes

Peninsula Farm
Alice Adamson

Ginie (Virginia) Bristowe

Stasia (Anastasia) Brown

Bruce Carroll

Beth (Elizabeth) Dudley

Jan (Janis) Duncan

Alison Fox

Pamella Hall

Audrey Heasman

Christina Ing

Margaret Kuhne

Krystyna Curtis

Janet Lynn

Jennifer Marshall

Sybil McCaughey

Jennette Merrylees

Robert Mitchell

Keith Roberton

Peter Schifferli

Ann Sippe

Margaret Triffitt

Maria Valenti

John Watson

Jonathan Wolf

Samson House
Wendy (Diana) Antonovsky

Varteny Boyadjian

Sonja (Martha) Franks

Richard Keamy

Fay Moore

Kerry Morgan

Keith Roberton

Hilary Silbert

Settlers Cottage
Peter Scales

St Peter’s, Gilgering
Christopher Broadbent

Glenyse Broadbent

Michael Broadbent

Alan Fleay

David Fleay

Lesley Fleay

Malcolm Fleay

Mary Fleay

Sally Fleay

Evan Hodges

Jan King

Wonnerup
Alan Porter

Woodbridge
Colleen Armitage

Linda Barker

Wendy Brindle

Roy Brooks

Eileen Brown

Linda Brown-Davies

Sandra Cailes

Patricia Charlton

Christopher Corry-Thomas

Susan Corry-Thomas

Toni (Patricia) Crossland

Daniela Da Costa

Elisabeth Darragh

Alan Dayman

Heather Dayman

Rachel Denham-White

Jane Devine

Nola Dickson

Jennifer Du Boulay

Maureen Ellyard

Cathy Ferrins

Delia Grochowski

Maya Hill

Halina Krapez

Faye Lemke

Nataasha Lethbridge

Jill Lowe

Chris Lynch

Gillian MacKenzie

Merle McAlpine

Kelly McConkey

Saz McDermott
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Julie McRobbie

Bette (Elizabeth) Mills

Lyn Oliver

Theresa Putland

Anne Read

Helen Rietveld

James Rietveld

Keith Roberton

Carolyn Sarich

Helen Savage

Alan  Sharkey

Marilyn Simcock

Carol Smith

Eileen Smith

Neil Smith

Roslyn Stewart

Patricia Stroebel

Vincent Taylor

Tracey Turich

John Viska

Judith Walsh

Margaret Warden

Heather Whykes

UWA Masters of  
Archaeology Internship
Lorna Cooper

Rhianna Couzens

Appendix 4
Council and Executive Attendance

Council Meetings - 8 Council meetings were held

Name Attendance Apology Leave of 
Absence

* Mr Gregory Boyle 2 2 1

Ms Helen Cogan 5 3 0

Dr Kenneth Collins AM 
CitWA

6 2 0

Hon John Cowdell AM 
(Vice President)

8 0 0

Hon Cheryl Edwardes 1 7 0

Dr Steve Errington 7 1 0

Mr Grant Godfrey 6 2 0

* Mr Graham Goerke 1 1 0

Prof Jenny Gregory AM 6 1 1

Mr Max Hipkins 6 1 1

Mr Roger Jennings 8 0 0

Mr Max Kay AM CitWA 
(President)

6 2 0

Ms Christine Lewis 
(Vice President)

8 0 0

Dr Ken Michael AC 
(Deputy Chair)

4 4 0

Mrs Jocelyn Mitchell 7 1 0

Colonel (Ret'd) Robert 
Mitchell CFD,UE

8 0 0

Mr Geoff Moor 7 1 0

Hon Michael Murray 
AM QC (Chair)

8 0 0

Mr John Palermo 
(Treasurer)

5 3 0

Ms Irene Stainton 2 6 0

Prof John Stephens 7 1 0

Dr Robyn Taylor 8 0 0

Dr Michael Wheatley 7 1 0

* Has retired or been appointed during this financial year, thus served on 
Council for part year only.
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Executive Meetings - 7 Executive meetings were held

Name Attendance Apology Leave of 
Absence

* Mr Gregory Boyle 1 2 1

Ms Helen Cogan 6 1 0

Hon John Cowdell AM 5 2 0

Hon Cheryl Edwardes 5 2 0

Mr Grant Godfrey 5 2 0

* Mr Graham Goerke 1 1 0

Prof Jenny Gregory AM 3 3 1

Mr Max Hipkins 6 0 1

Mr Max Kay AM CitWA 6 1 0

Ms Christine Lewis 6 1 0

Dr Ken Michael AC 6 1 0

Hon Michael Murray 
AM QC

7 0 0

Mr John Palermo 7 0 0

* Mr Tom Perrigo 0 4 0

* Mr Julian Donaldson 3 0 0

* Has retired or been appointed during this financial year, thus served on 
Executive for part year only.

Appendix 5
Honour and Reward 
Recipients

2015 Volunteer Awards
McLarty Award
In recognition of your support and 
contribution to the National Trust  
of Australia (WA) for over 5 years.

Linda Brown-Davies

Max Kay AM CitWA

Forrest Award
In recognition of your support and 
contribution to the National Trust  
of Australia (WA) for over 10 years.

Alice Adams

Gregory Boyle

Helen Cogan

Stirling Award
In recognition of your support and 
contribution to the National Trust  
of Australia (WA) for over 15 years.

Prof John Stephens

2015 Special Awards
Certificate Of Appreciation
In recognition of your support and 
contribution to the National Trust  
of Australia (WA).

Ann Sippe

John Viska

Fellow of the National Trust  
of Australia (WA)
In recognition of the outstanding 
contribution and distinguished 
service to the National Trust  
over 25 years.

Thomas E Perrigo
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Appendix 6
Classified Places and Objects

The following place was classified during 2015-2016

Name of Place
Anglican Church of St Philip and Cemetery, Culham 

Town/Location
1050 Toodyay-Bindi Bindi Road, Culham

Local Government Authority
Shire of Toodyay

Date of Classification
28 April 2016

Photo by
Dr Robyn Taylor

Statement of Significance
St Philip’s Church and cemetery has cultural heritage 
significance for the following reasons: 

• The place is the first Anglican church in the 
Toodyay district and its cemetery continues to be 
used for burials; 

• The place is indicative of the practice of building 
rural churches in locations that can serve the 
surrounding farming communities; 

• The place is associated with the Phillips family, 
Bishop Short of Adelaide a relative, and the 
explorer Ernest Giles; 

• The church is one of the oldest active Anglican 
churches in Western Australia; and 

• The place has aesthetic value for its simple 
design and use of local materials. It is a landmark 
feature in the rural landscape of Toodyay. 

Appendix 7
National Trust Managed Properties

Metropolitan Place Local Government 
Authority

Artillery Drill Hall Fremantle

Curtin Family Home Cottesloe

East Perth Cemeteries Perth

Gallop House Nedlands

Luisini’s Winery Joondalup

57 Murray Street Perth

Old Observatory Perth

Old Perth Boys’ School Perth

Peninsula Farm Bayswater

Royal Perth Hospital Perth

* Samson House Fremantle

Settlers Cottage Stirling

Stirling House Fremantle

Wanslea Cottesloe

Woodbridge Swan

Non-Metropolitan 
Place

Local Government 
Authority

Avondale Beverley

* Beverley Police Quarters Beverley

Bill Sewell Complex, 
Geraldton

Greater Geraldton

Bunbury Post Office 
(fmr)

Bunbury

* Bridgedale Bridgetown

* Central Greenough Greater Geraldton

* Cold Harbour Land York

Collie Police Station Collie

Collie Roundhouse Collie

* Cue Masonic Lodge Cue

Ellensbrook Augusta-Margaret 
River

Gingin Railway Station Gingin
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Golden Pipeline Local Government 
Authority

Ghooli Houses Yilgarn

Karalee Rocks Yilgarn

Mount Charlotte 
Reservoir

Kalgoorlie-Boulder

No 1 Pump Station Mundaring

No 3 Pump Station Cunderdin

No 4 Pump Station  
& House

Merredin

No 8 Pump Station  
& House

Coolgardie

Poole Street Bridge Northam

Weir Village Road 
Houses 

Mundaring

Non-Metropolitan 
Place

Local Government 
Authority

* Gray’s Store Greater Geraldton

* Grindon Land Boyup Brook

Hydro Power Station Dardanup

Israelite Bay Telegraph 
Station

Esperance

* Jarrahdale Heritage Park Serpentine-Jarrahdale

Kylie Dam West Arthur

Leonora Land Leonora

* Mangowine Nungarin

Moir Homestead Esperance

Old Blythewood Murray

* Old Farm, Strawberry 
Hill

Albany

* Parkwater Cowaramup

* Pinjarra Courthouse Murray

Rosella House Greater Geraldton

* St James’ Church Greater Geraldton

St Peter’s, Glebe 
Gilgering

York

* Stone Barn & Cottage Greater Geraldton

* Temperance Lodge Greater Geraldton

The Hermitage Greater Geraldton

* Walkaway Cemetery 
(part)

Greater Geraldton

Warden Finnerty’s 
Residence

Coolgardie

* Wesleyan Church Greater Geraldton

Whitby Falls Serpentine-Jarrahdale

Wonnerup Busselton

York Courthouse 
Complex

York

* Freehold.
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Appendix 8
Heritage Appeals 2015-2016

The National Trust of Australia (WA) administers 
heritage appeals to enable communities, as well as itself, 
to raise funds for conservation and interpretation of 
Western Australia’s heritage. Donations over two dollars 
are tax deductible. During the year $675,325 in income 
was generated from the National Trust’s active heritage 
appeals and $724,943 of appeal donation funds were 
spent on conserving Western Australian heritage places

Appeal Names
Applecross Primary School 

Avondale Conservation

Bibbulmun Track

Bicentennial National Trail

Budadee Foundation

Busselton Settlement

Cape to Cape Trail

Christ Church Claremont

City of Perth Heritage Appeal

Commonwealth Walkways Appeal

East Perth Cemeteries Monuments

Gabbi Kylie Foundation

Geraldton Catholic Cathedral

Golden Jubilee Appeal

Golden Pipeline Heritage

Golden Valley Tree Farm

Halls Creek Post Office

Holy Trinity York

Kalgoorlie Trades Hall

Lady Walpole Restoration

Maali Foundation

Malimup Appeal

Matera Foundation

Monsignor J Hawes Geraldton Appeal

Monty Millar Appeal

Monumental Restoration

Museum Freedom Tolerance

New Norcia Benedictine Monastery

Ngalia Depot Spring

Norman & Beard Organ

Old Court House Museum

Peninsula Hotel Maylands

Regal Theatre Heritage

Sacred Heart Beagle Bay

Sacred Heart Highgate

St Aidan's Claremont

St Andrews Perth

St Columba’s Church South Perth

St Constantine

St Cuthbert’s Church

St George’s Cathedral

St Joseph's Restoration Appeal Subiaco

St Luke's Gingin

St Luke's Heritage Precinct

St Mary's Busselton

St Mary's Cathedral Perth

St Mary's Leederville

St Mary's Middle Swan

St Matthew’s Guildford

St Patrick's Fremantle

St Paul's Community Hall

St Peters Anglican Victoria Park

St Peters Church, Gilgering

St Thomas Parish Heritage Appeal Claremont

Temple David Heritage Appeal

Terraced House Queen Victoria

Thomas Peel Archaeology

Treemission

Tuart Forrest Appeal

Two Feet & Heart Beat

WA Rowing Club Memorabilia

WARC Boatshed
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Financials
08

Independent Auditor’s Report

Certification of Performance Indicators

Key Performance Indicators

Certification of Financial Statements

Statement of Comprehensive Income

Statement of Financial Position

Statement of Changes in Equity

Statement of Cash Flows

Notes to the Financial Statements

Tools of the trade at the Gallop House archaeology field school. G Pickering
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Join the National Trust and gain FREE entry to 
around 1000 heritage places in 21 countries.

The National Trust of Australia (WA) was established 
in 1959 and is a not-for-profit membership 
organisation. The National Trust is both a “Trust” for 
the government and the community and works to 
conserve and interpret WA’s unique natural, historic 
and Aboriginal heritage.

Your membership will help present and future 
generations celebrate their heritage.

Membership Benefits

• A valid membership card from date of joining;

• Free entry to around 1000 heritage places in  
21 countries;

• Quarterly copies of the national and State 
magazine Trust News Australia and Trust News WA;

• Special offers from cafés at National Trust 
properties in Western Australia;

• Opportunity to participate in a range of National 
Trust events at member’s rates; and

• The knowledge you are actively assisting the 
conservation and interpretation of Western 
Australia’s cultural heritage.

Contact us

E trust@ntwa.com.au
T 61 8 9321 6088
F 61 8 9324 1571
nationaltrust.org.au

The National Trust of Australia (WA) acknowledges its properties are situated on Aboriginal land across the State.  
The National Trust recognises Aboriginal people remain the cultural and spiritual custodians of their land and continue 
to practise their values, languages, beliefs and knowledge. The National Trust is committed to working with Aboriginal 
people to ensure these practices are recognised and included in the conservation and interpretation of its properties 
and Aboriginal people are consulted and involved in the development of Trust projects and programs.


